
  

 

 Joanne Roney CBE 
Chief Executive 
Telephone: 0161 234 3006 
j.roney@manchester.gov.uk 
PO Box 532, Town Hall 
Extension, Manchester 
M60 2LA 

 
Thursday, 22 February 2024 

 
Dear Councillor / Honorary Alderman, 
 
Meeting of the Council – Friday, 1st March, 2024 
 
You are summoned to attend a meeting of the Council which will be held at 10.00 am on 
Friday, 1st March, 2024, in The Council Chamber, Level 2, Town Hall Extension. 
  
1.   The Lord Mayor's Announcements and Special Business   

 
 

 
2.   Interests 

To allow members an opportunity to declare any personal, 
prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interest they might have in 
any items which appear on this agenda; and record any items 
from which they are precluded from voting as a result of Council 
Tax or Council rent arrears. Members with a personal interest 
should declare that at the start of the item under consideration. If 
members also have a prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interest 
they must withdraw from the meeting during the consideration of 
the item. 
 

 

 
3.   Minutes 

To submit for approval the minutes of the meeting held on 31 
January 2024. 
 

7 - 18 

 
4.   The Council's Revenue and Capital Budget 2024/25   

 
 

 
4a.   Proceedings of the Art Galleries Committee  

To approve the proceedings of the Art Galleries Committee on 14 
February 2024 in relation to the Art Galleries Budget 2024/25. 
 

19 - 20 

 
4b.   Part of Proceeding of the Executive - 14 February 2024 

relating to the budget for 2024/25  
To approve the part proceedings of the Executive on 14 February 
2024, that contains details of the following: 
  
• Revenue Budget Monitoring (P9)  
• Capital Programme Monitoring (P9) 
• Medium Term Financial Strategy and 2024/25 Revenue 

Budget  
• Corporate Core Budget 2024/25 
• Children and Education Services Budget 2024/25 

21 - 56 

Public Document Pack



Council 
 

 

• Public Health Budget 2024-27 
• Adult Social Care Budget 2024/25  
• Neighbourhoods Directorate Budget 2024/25 
• Housing Revenue Account 2024/25 to 2026/27 
• Growth and Development Directorate Budget 2024/25 
• Dedicated Schools Grant 2024/25 
• Capital Strategy and Budget 2024/25 to 2026/27 
• Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2024/25, 

including Borrowing Limits and Annual Investment Strategy 
• Budget Equality and Poverty Impact Assessments * 

considered by Resources and Governance Scrutiny 
Committee 

• Budget consultation results 2024/25 * considered by 
Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee 

  
Members of the Council are requested to take account of 
the above reports which were considered by Executive on 
14 February 2024 
  
The Council Budget Paper pack is available on the 
Council’s website (link address below) and paper copy - 
on request.  
  
Weblink address: 
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.a
spx?CId=135&MId=4358&Ver=4 
  

4c.   Minutes of the Resources and Governance and Scrutiny 
Committee - 26 February 2024, in relation to the overall 
budget proposals (to follow) 
 

 

 
4d.   To approve the proposal to ensure the Housing Revenue 

Account for 2024/25 does not show a debit 
 

 

 
4e.   To determine affordable borrowing limits, prudential 

indicators, proposals in respect of treasury management, 
annual investment strategy and minimum revenue budget 
strategy 
 

 

 
4f.   To calculate the Council Tax requirement in accordance with 

Section 31A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as 
amended 
 

 

 
4g.   To calculate a basic amount of Council Tax and an amount 

for each valuation band (the City Council element) in 
accordance with Sections 31B and 36 of the Local 
Government Finance Act, 1992, as amended 
 

 

 
4h.   To set an amount of Council Tax for each valuation band in 

accordance with Section 30 of the Local Governance Finance 
Act, 1992  
  

 

https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4358&Ver=4
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4358&Ver=4
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4358&Ver=4


Council 
 

 

In considering the above items, to consider: 
  

4i.   Capital Strategy and Budget 2024/25 
 

 
 
4j.   Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2024/25, including 

Council Borrowing Limits and Annual Investment Strategy 
 

 

 
4k.   Details of proposed Budget Amendments (to follow) 

 
 

 
4l.   Council Tax Resolution 2024/25 (to follow) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Yours faithfully, 

 
Joanne Roney CBE 
Chief Executive 



Council 
 

 

Information about the Council  
The Council is composed of 96 councillors with one third elected three years in four. 
Councillors are democratically accountable to residents of their ward. Their overriding duty 
is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their constituents, including 
those who did not vote for them. 
 
Six individuals with previous long service as councillors of the city have been appointed 
Honorary Aldermen of the City of Manchester and are entitled to attend every Council 
meeting. They do not however have a vote. 
 
All councillors meet together as the Council under the chairship of the Lord Mayor of 
Manchester. There are seven meetings of the Council in each municipal year and they are 
open to the public. Here councillors decide the Council’s overall strategic policies and set 
the budget each year. 
 
Agenda, reports and minutes of all Council meetings can be found on the Council’s 
website www.manchester.gov.uk 
 
Members of the Council 
Councillors:- 
 
Y Dar (Chair), Andrews (Deputy Chair), Abdullatif, Akbar, Azra Ali, Ahmed Ali, Nasrin Ali, 
Shaukat Ali, Alijah, Amin, Appleby, Bano, Bayunu, Bell, Benham, Brickell, Bridges, Butt, 
Chambers, Chohan, Collins, Connolly, Cooley, Craig, Curley, Davies, Doswell, Douglas, 
Evans, Flanagan, Fletcher, Foley, Gartside, Good, Green, Grimshaw, Hacking, Hassan, 
Hewitson, Hilal, Hitchen, Holt, Hughes, Hussain, Igbon, Ilyas, Iqbal, Johns, Johnson, 
T Judge, Kamal, Karney, Kilpatrick, Kirkpatrick, Lanchbury, Leech, J Lovecy, Ludford, 
Lynch, Lyons, Marsh, McCaul, McHale, Midgley, Moran, Muse, Noor, Northwood, Nunney, 
Ogunbambo, H Priest, Rahman, Rawlins, Rawson, Razaq, Reeves, Reid, Riasat, 
Richards, I Robinson, T Robinson, Rowles, Sadler, M Sharif Mahamed, Sheikh, 
Shilton Godwin, Simcock, Stogia, Taylor, Wheeler, Wiest, Whiston, White, Wills, Wilson 
and Wright 
 
Honorary Aldermen of the City of Manchester –  
Hugh Barrett, Andrew Fender, Paul Murphy OBE, Nilofar Siddiqi and Keith Whitmore. 
 
 
 
 
 
Further Information 
For help, advice and information about this meeting please contact the meeting Clerk: 
 Andrew Woods 
 Tel: 0161 234 3011 
 Email: andrew.woods@manchester.gov.uk 
 
This agenda was issued on Thursday, 22 February 2024 by the Governance and 
Scrutiny Support Unit, Manchester City Council, Level 2, Town Hall Extension (Library 
Walk Elevation), Manchester M60 2LA 

http://www.manchester.gov.uk/


Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Council  31 January 2024 
 
Council 
 
Minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 31 January 2024 
 
 
Present: 
 
The Right Worshipful, the Lord Mayor Councillor Dar – in the Chair 
 
Councillors:  
Andrews, Abdullatif, Akbar, Azra Ali, Ahmed Ali, Nasrin Ali, Amin, Appleby, Bayunu, 
Bell, Benham, Brickell, Bridges, Butt, Chambers, Chohan, Collins, Connolly, Craig, 
Curley, Davies, Doswell, Douglas, Evans, Flanagan, Fletcher, Foley, Gartside, Good, 
Green, Grimshaw, Hacking, Hassan, Hewitson, Hilal, Hitchen, Holt, Hughes, Hussain, 
Igbon, Ilyas, Iqbal, Johns, Johnson, T Judge, Kamal, Karney, Kilpatrick, Kirkpatrick, 
Lanchbury, Leech, J Lovecy, Ludford, Lynch, Lyons, Marsh, McCaul, McHale, Midgley, 
Moran, Muse, Noor, Northwood, Nunney, Ogunbambo, Rahman, Rawlins, Rawson, 
Razaq, Reeves, Reid, Richards, I Robinson, T Robinson, Rowles, M Sharif Mahamed, 
Sheikh, Shilton Godwin, Simcock, Stogia, Taylor, Wheeler, Wiest, Whiston, White, Wills, 
Wilson and Wright 
 
Honorary Aldermen of the City of Manchester – 
Mrs Nilofar Siddiqi 
 
 
CC/24/1 The Lord Mayor's Announcements and Special Business - Kings New 

Year Honours  
 
The Lord Mayor informed the Council that she had written to the following people, who 
are either Mancunians or live or work in the city, to recognise and congratulate them on 
the honour they have received, as stated in the Kings New Year’s Honours list: 
  

         Commander of the Order of the British Empire 
o   Joanne Roney 

 
         Order of the British Empire 

o   Eamonn Boylan 
o   Antony Lockley 
o   Katie Gallagher 

 
         Member of the Order of the British Empire 

o   John Cox 
o   Paul Fairweather 
o   Lauren Hemp 
o   Lydia Ina 

Page 5

Item 3



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Council  31 January 2024 
 

o   Christine Kenyon 
o   Marion Meakin 
o   Kathryn Morley 
o   Ehinor Otaigbe-Amedu 

 
         Member of the Royal Victorian Order 

o   Julie Denby 
 

         King’s Police Medal 
o   Kam Hare 

 
         King’s Fire Service Medal 

o   Dave Russel 
 
CC/24/2 Death of Sir Tony Lloyd MP 
 
The Lord Mayor invited those present to observe a minute’s silence in memory of Sir 
Tony Lloyd MP. Sir Tony served as a local councillor in Trafford in 1979 and was later 
elected as a Member of Parliament in 1983 for Stretford and later served as MP for 
Manchester Central and Rochdale constituencies. Sir Tony served in Government as 
Minister of State for Foreign affairs in 1997, as well as serving as Greater Manchester 
Police and Crime Commissioner and Interim Mayor of Greater Manchester.  
 
CC/24/3 Lord Mayor's Announcements and Special Business - Manchester's 

vision to become a Child Friendly city  
 
The Lord Mayor invited pupils from Manchester schools along with Youth Councillor and 
Youth Parliament representatives to address the Council to outline the vision 
for Manchester to become a Child Friendly city. Child Friendly Cities and Communities 
is a UK Committee for UNICEF (UNICEF UK) programme that works with councils to 
put children’s rights into practice. 
  
The programme aims to create cities and communities in the UK where all children – 
whether they are living in care, using a children’s centre, or simply visiting their local 
library – have a meaningful say in, and benefit from, the local decisions, services and 
spaces that shape their lives. 
  
The Executive Member for Early Years and Young People (Councillor Bridges) 
explained how Manchester will become a recognised UNICEF UK-recognised Child 
Friendly City.  
  
The Lord Mayor then introduced Pupils from Wright Robinson College, Lily Lane 
Primary, Old Moat Primary School, Crosslee Community Primary School and Melland 
School who addressed the meeting and were supported by two Youth Councillors and 
two Members of the Youth Parliament. 
  

Page 6

Item 3



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Council  31 January 2024 
 
The Council, community, children and young people of Manchester will together agree 
on six priority areas or 'badges'. Supported by UNICEF UK, a draft action plan will be 
drafted during the Development Phase, setting out how the council will work towards 
achieving progress in the badges chosen, over the following two to four years. 
  
The Lord Mayor and the Leader of the Council thanked the pupils and youth 
representatives for their impressive presentation and welcomed the initiative to make 
Manchester a Child Friendly city.   
 
CC/24/4 Urgent Business - Constitutional and Nomination Committee minutes  
 
The Lord Mayor reported that she had agree to the submission of the minutes of the 
Constitutional and Nomination Committee held on 31 January 2024.  
 
CC/24/5 Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2023 were approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Lord Mayor. 
  
 
CC/24/6 Notice of Motion - Extension of the Franchise - Our Home Our Vote 

Residence - Based Voting Motion  
 
Councillor Bayunu submitted the following motion, which was seconded by Councillor 
Abdullatif: - 
  
This Council notes: 
  

 That all our residents, no matter their nationality, bring significant value to our 
area. 

 37% of Mancunians were born abroad and 12% are from the European Union 
(EU). They live, work, study, make use of public services, and call Manchester 
their home.  

 Many of our foreign-born residents from EU and Commonwealth countries can 
vote in our local elections.  

 However, our residents born in non-EU and non-Commonwealth countries 
cannot.  

 Scotland and Wales have implemented residence-based voting rights where all 
residents with lawful immigration status have the right to vote in local and 
devolved national elections. 

 A poll conducted by Number Cruncher showed that 63% of people agree that all 
residents should have the right to vote in local elections in England and Northern 
Ireland. 

 The current complexity in voting eligibility causes confusion and will reduce voter 
turnout in local elections amongst migrant voters, a group which already has a 
disproportionately lower voter registration rate compared to British voters. 

Page 7

Item 3



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Council  31 January 2024 
 
The Council resolves to: 

Call upon our leader, Bev Craig to; 
  

 to write to the Minister of State for the Cabinet Office, requesting that the 
Elections Bill be amended to extend local election voting rights in England and 
Northern Ireland to all qualifying foreign nationals in line with voting rights in 
Scotland and Wales.” 

 Write to the Minister of State at the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities requesting that the franchise for local elections be extended in 
England and Northern Ireland to all qualifying foreign nationals in line with 
eligibility criteria in Scotland and Wales. This would ensure a UK-wide and fair 
approach so that all our residents who are also our council taxpayers are 
enfranchised. 

  
Councillor Lyons moved an amendment to the motion, which was seconded by 
Councillor Muse, as follows: - 
  
This Council notes: 
 
 

-          That all our residents, no matter their nationality, bring significant value to our 
area. 

-          The 2021 Census showed that 31% of Mancunians were born abroad and 12% 
are from the European Union (EU). They live, work, study, make use of public 
services, and call Manchester their home. 

-          Many of our foreign-born residents from EU and Commonwealth countries can 
vote in our local elections. However, our residents born in non-EU and non-
Commonwealth countries cannot.  

-          Scotland and Wales have implemented residence-based voting rights where all 
residents with lawful immigration status have the right to vote in local and 
devolved national election 

-          A poll conducted by Number Cruncher showed that 63% of people agree that all 
residents should have the right to vote in local elections in England and Northern 
Ireland. 

-          The current complexity in voting eligibility causes confusion and will reduce voter 
turnout in local elections amongst migrant voters, a group which already has a 
disproportionately lower voter registration rate compared to British voters. 

  
This Council Further Notes – 
  

-          We welcome the positive comments by Sir Kier Starmer around voter residency 
when he said in 2021 that he is in "favour of voting rights for everybody who has 
contributed to our society." And the policy was subsequently accepted into 
Labours policy forum. 

Page 8

Item 3



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Council  31 January 2024 
 

-          This Council has consistently campaigned against the unfair electoral changes 
that have disenfranchised the 2 million citizens without the correct photo 
identification. 

-          We applaud the recent investigation by the Sunday Mirror Newspaper into how 
the "Tories are rigging the General Election rules" and the observation from the 
Independent Electoral Commission that the Government is "telling the umpire 
how to enforce the rules of the game." 

  
 This Council Resolves –  
  

-          To support the cross party Migrant Democracy’s campaign for Residence Based 
Voting Rights and call on Manchester Labour MPs to continue to show their 
support 

-          To continue to campaign against the to suppress votes in this country by 
enforcing facial identification requirements for the general election, whilst 
appointing overseas coordinators to make it easier to vote from overseas. 

-          To call on all Councillors to stand up to the attacks on our electoral system by 
this Tory government and call on all Councillors who support residency-based 
voting rights to vote Labour for a Labour government to implement them. 

  
Councillor Bayunu indicated that she had agreed to the amendment and that the 
amended motion would be the substantive motion to be considered.   
  
The amended motion was put to the Council as the substantive motion and the Lord 
Mayor declared it was carried. 
  
Resolution 
  
This Council resolves: 
  

-          To support the cross party Migrant Democracy’s campaign for Residence Based 
Voting Rights and call on Manchester Labour MPs to continue to show their 
support. 

-          To continue to campaign against the to suppress votes in this country by 
enforcing facial identification requirements for the general election, whilst 
appointing overseas coordinators to make it easier to vote from overseas. 

-          To call on all Councillors to stand up to the attacks on our electoral system by 
this Tory government and call on all Councillors who support residency-based 
voting rights to vote Labour for a Labour government to implement them. 

 
CC/24/7 Notice of Motion - Post Office Scandal and Lies  
 
Councillor Karney proposed the following motion, which was seconded by Councillor 
Hilal: - 
  

Page 9

Item 3



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Council  31 January 2024 
 
All of Manchester and the country have been horrified at the lies and injustices 
perpetrated by the Post Office against 900 postmasters. 
  
At the height of the scandal from 2010 – 2012 the Postal Affairs Minister was Sir Ed 
Davey. The record shows that he refused to meet with postmaster Alan Bates who let 
the campaign for justice. 
  
The City Council calls on Ed Davey: 
 

I)             To apologise to Mr. Bates 
II)            To apologise to the 900 postmasters whose lives were shattered by the lies 

and criminal harassment of the Post Office 
  
Councillor Leech moved an amendment to the motion, which was seconded by 
Councillor Good, as follows: - 
  
All of Manchester and the country have been horrified at the lies and injustices 
perpetrated by the Post Office against 900 postmasters. 
  
From the year 2000, hundreds of sub-postmasters and sub-postmistresses across the 
country were wrongly convicted, because of faults with the Post Office’s Horizon IT 
system that it covered up for years. The truth was finally uncovered in 2019, thanks to 
the sub-postmasters’ High Court battle and crucial evidence from a whistleblower. 
  
Council recognises that successive Labour, Coalition and Conservative Governments 
failed to take the necessary action to uncover the scandal, and condemns the Post 
Office for lying to Ministers during the Labour Governments between 1997 and 2010, 
the Coalition Government from 2010-2015 and the subsequent Conservative 
Governments after 2015.  
  
Council further condemns those politicians and sections of the media who have 
attempted to smear individual politicians for party political gain, rather than seeking 
justice for the sub-postmasters and sub-postmistresses and the prosecution of those 
who are responsible for innocent sub-postmasters and sub-postmistresses being 
wrongly convicted, and having their lives ruined by this scandal. 
  
Council notes the comments of well-respected BBC investigative journalist John 
Sweeney who said on X, formerly Twitter, "Our BBC Panorama Trouble At The Post 
Office in August 20I5 had a Fujitsu whistleblower who said Horizon computer generated 
errors. This was the first time outsiders knew for a fact the Post Office was lying. So it is 
unfair to criticise Keir Starmer and Ed Davey who were out of the picture in August 
2015. By then the Conservatives were in charge. And they gave Paula Vennels a gong." 
  
Council further notes the role of Fujitsu in the Post Office scandal, whose faulty Horizon 
accounting software was used to convict hundreds of innocent people, and Fujitsu 
Europe's boss, Paul Patterson has admitted that Fujitsu has a "moral obligation" to 

Page 10

Item 3



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Council  31 January 2024 
 
contribute to compensation for those who were wrongly prosecuted as a result of its 
faulty IT software.  
  
Council notes with concern that an "exploratory agreement" with Fujitsu was signed last 
month by Council Leader Bev Craig, and Greater Manchester Mayor, Andy Burnham, 
even though the inquiry is ongoing and no compensation has yet been paid out. 
  
Council therefore calls on the Government:- 
  
1.         To ensure that any Post Office or Fujitsu staff found to have lied about the 

problems with the Horizon software be prosecuted. 
2.         To ensure that the compensation scheme is fast-tracked and includes punitive 

costs against the Post Office and Fujitsu. 
  
Council also requests that the Leader of the Council brings forward an urgent report to 
the Executive, setting out the nature of the "exploratory agreement" with Fujitsu, with a 
guarantee that no deal can be signed with Fujitsu before full compensation has been 
paid out and any appropriate prosecutions pursued. 
  
The amendment was put to the Council and on voting, the Lord Mayor declared that it 
was lost. 
  
A further amendment was moved by Councillor Johnson and Councillor Nunney, as 
follows: - 
  
All of Manchester and the country have been horrified at the lies and injustices 
perpetrated by Fujitsu and the Post Office against 900 the sub-postmasters. 
  
Between 1999-2015, over 900 sub-postmasters were convicted of theft, fraud, and false 
accounting, with most of these prosecutions carried out by the Post Office. Alan 
Bates led the campaign for justice.  
  
This scandal revealed the mendacity and opportunism by the Post Office, their failure in 
corporate governance, judicial and court failure as well as legislative failure. 
Consecutive Postal Affairs Ministers during this period are part of this failure.   
  
The City Council calls on those Postal Affairs Ministers: - 
  

         To apologise to Mr. Bates; 
         To apologise to the sub-postmasters whose lives were shattered by the lies and 

criminal harassment of the Post Office. 
  
The City Council also calls on the Government: 
  

         To quickly and adequately allocate compensation to the victims of the scandal;  
         To hold the Post Office and Fujitsu to account. 

Page 11

Item 3



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Council  31 January 2024 
 
The amendment was put to the Council and on voting, the Lord Mayor declared that it 
was lost. 
  
The motion was put to the Council as the substantive motion and the Lord Mayor 
declared it was carried. 
  
Resolution 
  
The City Council calls on Ed Davey: 
  

I)             To apologise to Mr. Bates. 
II)            To apologise to the 900 postmasters whose lives were shattered by the lies 

and criminal harassment of the Post Office. 
  
CC/24/8 Notice of Motion - Save the Housing Support Fund: Stop Government 

cutting vital support for families  
 
Councillor Midgley submitted the following motion, which was seconded by Councillor 
Marsh: - 
  
This Council notes: 
 

-          Since 2010, cuts and decisions have led to rising levels of poverty in the UK, 
made event worse by the Cost-of-Living Crisis. 

-          In Manchester, we have long worked hard to increase opportunities and reduce 
poverty. Despite our best efforts over 40% of our children live in poverty. With 
over 41,000 residents likely to be living with disposable income of less than £30 a 
month and a further 60,000 who potentially have less than £124 disposal income 
a month, the situation is acute. 

-          This council works hard to support those in need and last year alone the council 
spent over £50 million to support residents in hardship and reduce poverty 
Examples include our freephone Cost of living advice line, our food support 
response service and free school meals for children in the school holidays. 

-          The Government is now threatening to scrap the Household Support Fund in 
March 2024. In Manchester we use this to provide support to around 60,000 
residents in the form of: 
 

 40,000 children and young people receiving free school meals holiday 
support; 

 12,500 vulnerable households receiving cost of living support payments; 
 6,000 children and young people accessing additional Holiday Activity 

Fund support;  
 400 care leavers receiving an income top up; 
 Valuable support to charities working in our communities. 

 

Page 12

Item 3



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Council  31 January 2024 
 

-          This support makes a real difference to some of Manchester’s most vulnerable 
residents in managing cost of living pressures. 

  
This Council is concerned that across Manchester families are living under the threat of 
losing this vital lifeline, and that many charities and voluntary groups in Manchester 
depend on HSF to deliver emergency cost of living support to families who are at risk of 
financial hardship. 
  
This Council resolves:  
 

-          To restate the fact that political choices have seen levels of poverty rise in the 
UK. 

-          To call on the Government to provide urgent clarity and reassurance to these 
families and community groups reliant on this funding and extend the Household 
Support Fund beyond its current end date of March 2024. 

-          That the Leader of the Council is requested to write to the Government to restate 
Manchester’s deep worry that this lifeline for many will be scrapped. 

-          To campaign alongside the LGA, Labour MPs and community groups to save 
the HSF. 

  
On the motion being put to the vote, the Lord Mayor declared it carried unanimously. 
 
Resolution 
 
This Council resolves:  
 

-          To restate the fact that political choices have seen levels of poverty rise in the 
UK. 

-          To call on the Government to provide urgent clarity and reassurance to these 
families and community groups reliant on this funding and extend the Household 
Support Fund beyond its current end date of March 2024. 

-          That the Leader of the Council is requested to write to the Government to restate 
Manchester’s deep worry that this lifeline for many will be scrapped. 

-          To campaign alongside the LGA, Labour MPs and community groups to save 
the HSF. 

 
CC/24/9 Proceedings of the Executive  
 
The proceedings of the Executive on 13 December 2023 and 17 January 2024 were 
submitted. 
  
Decision 
  
To receive the minutes of the Executive meetings held on 13 December 2023 and 17 
January 2024. 
  

Page 13

Item 3



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Council  31 January 2024 
 
 
CC/24/10 Questions to Executive Members and Others under Procedural Rule 

23  
 
Councillor Igbon responded to a question from Councillor Hilal regarding the use of 
refillable cups at cafes providing a takeaway service. 
  
Councillor Igbon responded to a question from Councillor Hilal regarding the use of 
larger bins in parks and the frequency of refuse collection. 
  
Councillor Igbon responded to a question from Councillor Hilal regarding a refresh of the 
Council’s Parks Strategy, with an emphasis on safety of women and girls in parks. 
  
Councillor Igbon responded to a question from Councillor Hilal regarding funding for 
street cleaning. 
  
Councillor Igbon responded to a question from Councillor Hilal regarding contract 
arrangements with Biffa. 
  
Councillor White responded to a question from Councillor Nunney regarding 
arrangements to ensure the inclusion of local residents in the consultation on the 
Wythenshawe Culture Hub. 
  
Councillor Craig responded to a question from Councillor Nunney regarding a response 
to the use of Manchester Airport in the shipment of incoming cargoes of endangered 
live macaque monkeys destined for UK vivisection laboratories. 
  
The question received from Councillor Northwood to Councillor Akbar was withdrawn in 
accordance with Rule 12.1, Council Procedure Rules, Council Constitution.   
  
Councillor Igbon responded to a question from Councillor Leech regarding inspection 
arrangements for roads following leaf clearance. 
  
Councillor Rawlins responded to a question from Councillor Leech regarding the carbon 
emission impact of the 32 ward Climate Change action plans. 
  
Councillor Craig responded to a question from Councillor Leech regarding a partnership 
arrangement with Fujitsu in light of the findings and potential outcome from the Post 
Office Horizon software inquiry. 
  
Councillor Hacking responded to a question from Councillor Shilton-Godwin regarding 
plans for promoting cycling in the city following the launch of Manchester, European 
Capital of Cycling. 
  

Page 14

Item 3



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Council  31 January 2024 
 
Councillor Akbar responded to a question from Councillor Wheeler regarding pay 
arrangements from 1 May 2024 to ensure the Council continues to be a Real Living 
Wage Employer. 
  
Councillor Rawlins responded to a question from Councillor Good regarding safety 
measures at the Great Ancoats Street, and Pin Mill Brow road-crossing. 
  
Councillor Rawlins responded to a question from Councillor Good regarding the 
Council’s policy on the minimum width of parking bays. 
  
Councillor Tom Robinson responded to a question from Councillor Good regarding 
access arrangements to GP and dentistry services in Beswick and Ancoats. 
  
Councillor Akbar responded to a question from Councillor Johnson regarding an update 
on a feasibility study concerning the use of enforcement agents for the collection of 
outstanding council tax. 
  
Councillor Craig responded to a question from Councillor Johnson regarding a call on 
the UK Government to work with international partners towards a long-term cease fire 
and creation of a Palestinian state in order to bring lasting peace between Gaza and 
Israel. 
 
CC/24/11 Scrutiny Committees  
 
The minutes of the following Scrutiny Committee meetings were submitted: 
  
                Economy and Regeneration – 5 December 2023 and 9 January 2024  
                Communities and Equalities – 5 December 2023 and 9 January 2024 
                Children and Young People – 6 December 2023 and 10 January 2024 
                Health – 6 December 2023 and 10 January 2024 
                Resources and Governance – 7 December 2023 and 11 January 2024 
                Environment, Climate Change and Neighbourhoods – 7 December 2023 and 11 

January 2024 
  
Decision 
  
To receive those minutes submitted. 
  
CC/24/12 Proceedings of Committees  
 
The minutes of the following meetings were submitted: 
  
                     Audit Committee – 28 November 2023 
                     Planning and Highways Committee – 14 December 2023 and 18 January 2024 
                     Health and Wellbeing – 24 January 2024 

Page 15

Item 3



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Council  31 January 2024 
 
                     Constitutional and Nomination Committee – 31 January 2024 
  
The Council was asked to give particular consideration to the following 
recommendations from the minutes: 
  
CN/24/02       Appointments and Changes to Council Committee Membership 
  
Committee Member(s) to be added Member(s) to be removed 
Licensing Policy 
Committee  
  

Councillor Connolly 
Councillor Igbon 

Councillor Flanagan 
Councillor Rawlins 

  
Health and Wellbeing Board 

 Remove Bill McCarthy - GMMH to appoint Tony Warne - GMMH  
  

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 
 Remove Teacher Representative - Saba Iltaf  
 Re-appoint Teacher Representative - Laura Smith – (term to run for two years, 

with effect from 1 December 2023, until 31 November 2025)  
 Re-appoint Teacher Representative (Primary Sector) – Laura Smith (term to run 

to two years, with effect from 1 December 2023 until 31 November 2025) 
 Re-appoint Parent Governor Representative – Gary Cleworth (term to run for two 

years with effect from 3 February 2024, until 2 February 2026)  
 Appoint new Parent Governor Representative – Shade Davies to replace Katie 

McDaid – (term to run from 31 January 2024, for two years until 30 January 
2026). 

  
Decisions 
  

1.         To receive the minutes submitted. 
  
2.        To approve the changes in appointments to Committees and panels of the 

Council, as detailed above. 
 
CC/24/13 Key Decisions Report  
 
The Council considered the report of the City Solicitor on key decisions that have been 
taken in accordance with the urgency provisions in the Council’s Constitution. 
  
Decision  
To note the report. 
  
 
 

Page 16

Item 3



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Art Galleries Committee  14 February 2024 

Art Galleries Committee 
 
Minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 14 February 2024 
 
Present: Councillor Rahman (Chairman) – in the Chair 
 
Councillors: Akbar, Bridges, Igbon, Midgley, Rawlins and White 
 
Apologies: Councillor Craig, Hacking, Johnson and T Robinson 
 
Also present: Councillors:    
 
AG/24/1. Minutes  
 
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 15 February 2023. 
 
AG/24/2. Manchester City Galleries report and revenue budget 2024/25  
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Head of Libraries, Galleries, Culture 
and Youth Services and the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer that 
Manchester City Galleries’ providing an overview of the performance during 2023. 
The report also provided an outline of the plan to deliver the vision for the service in 
2024/25, within the context of the strategic plan, and presented a draft revenue 
budget for 2024/25 for the approval of the Art Galleries Committee. 
  
The report set out a proposed budget for 2024/25, which the Committee was 
recommended to endorse.  
  

Expenditure   Proposed revenue 
budget 2024/25  

  £000’s 
Staffing   3,301 
Premises   80 
Transport   65 
Supplies and Services   630 
Internal charges   25 
Total Gross Budget 4,101 
Income    
MCC cash limit   2,574 
ACE National Portfolio Organisation (NPO)   520 
Art Galleries Trust (fundraising)   450 
Earned income   450 
Internal recharge (OTH Project)   108 
Total Net Budget   4,101 
  
The Committee viewed a short presentation video on Future Creatives – a 
collaboration between Manchester Art Gallery and the Manchester College that 
championed the power of self-expression 
 

Page 17

Item 4a



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Art Galleries Committee  14 February 2024 

Decisions 
  
The Committee:- 
  
(1)      Note the report and endorse the draft gross budget for 2024/25 of £4.101m, 

with cash limit budget contribution from Manchester City Council of £2.574m.  
  
(2)      To recommend the budget to Executive for approval as part of the Council’s 

2024/25 budget setting process. 
  
(3)      To authorise the Chair of Art Galleries Committee to approve potential 

rehoming or repurposing (known within the museum sector as ‘disposals’) of 
accredited collections items as part of a collections review. 

 
 
 

Page 18

Item 4a



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Executive 
 
Minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 14 February 2024 
 
 
Present: Councillor  Rahman (Chair) 
In accordance with Rule 2.1 of the Executive Procedure Rules, the Statutory Deputy 
Leader chaired the meeting in the absence of the Leader. 
 
Councillors: Akbar, Bridges, Hacking, Igbon, Midgley, Rawlins, T Robinson and 
White 
 
Also present as Members of the Standing Consultative Panel:  
Councillors:  Ahmed Ali, Butt, Chambers, Douglas, Foley, Lynch and Moran 
 
Apologies: Councillor Craig, Johnson and Leech 
 
Exe/24/14 Revenue Budget Monitoring (P9)  
 
The Executive considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer, 
which outlined the projected outturn position for 2023/24, based on expenditure and 
income activity as at the end of December 2023 and future projections. 
  
The Leader advised that the current budget monitoring forecast was estimating an 
overspend of £5.5m for 2023/24.   This was in the context of significant financial 
difficulty being faced across the Local Government Sector and reflected the national 
pressures in the health and social care sector and trends being experienced across 
most Social Care providing local authorities. 
  
The Children’s directorate was facing an overspend of £7.7m due to increased 
External Residential costs, Home to School Transport demand, workforce and price 
pressures and overspends in Localities and Fostering workforce budgets. The 
biggest pressure related to external residential placements and increased complexity 
of need of the current cohort which had seen placement costs increase by 47% in the 
current financial year.  Similarly the Adult Services Directorate was facing an 
overspend of £3.7m which was being driven by long term care placements and cost 
pressures which were outpacing demand management interventions.  The 
Neighbourhoods Directorate was also forecasting an overspend of £1.4m in relation 
to shortfalls of income in markets and car parking as income levels had failed to 
recover since the pandemic and alternative locations for the Christmas markets had 
not replaced the losses incurred at Albert Square. 
  
It was noted that these pressures were partly offset by a forecasted £2m utilities 
underspend due to the new contract for electricity effective 1 October 2023, and an 
additional £1m driven by the release of fortuitous income which represented 
unallocated income balances not allocated to services.  
  
In year price inflation underspend of £455k had been released at P9 plus £553k of 
unallocated pay award due to vacancy levels as well as underspends of £0.8m in 
Public Health, arising from the confirmation of external funding, £1.5m in Growth and 

Page 19

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Development mostly due planning fee income and £1.2m in the Corporate Core, 
mainly due staffing underspends and extra income and reduced costs in Coroners 
were also contributing to offsetting the budget pressures  
  
Since the 2023/24 budget was approved there had been additional grant  
notifications which were now reflected in revised budgets. 
  
Overspending Directorates were working on recovery plans to mitigate their positions 
with an aim to reduce the overspend by the end of the financial year.  Any overspend 
this year would be a direct call on the General Fund reserve which would need to be 
reimbursed in future years. It was important mitigations continued to be identified to 
bring forecast spend back in line with the available budget. 
  
Decisions 
 
The Executive:- 
  
(1)     Note the global revenue monitoring report and forecast outturn position which is 

showing a £5.5m overspend. 
(2)     Approve the proposed budget virements as set out at paragraphs. 2.8 to 2.10 

of the report. 
(3)     Approve the proposed use of revenue grant funding as set out at paragraph 

2.12 of the report. 
  
Exe/24/15 Capital Programme Monitoring (P9)  
 
The Executive considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer, 
which informed of the progress against the delivery of the 2023/24 capital programme 
to the end of December 2023, the latest forecast of capital expenditure and the major 
variances since the Capital Programme Monitoring report submitted in November 
2023 and the proposed financing of capital expenditure for 2023/24 and affordability 
of the Capital Programme. 
 
The latest forecast of expenditure for 2023/24 for Manchester City Council was 
£403.5m compared to the current approved budget of £506.4m. Spend as of 31st 
December 2023 was £226.0m.  It was reported that the programme was subject to 
continual review to establish whether the forecast remained achievable.  
  
Whilst the intention was for the Council to progress the programme as stated, some 
projects and their sources of funding might require re-profiling into future years.  
  
The current forecasts showed that the financing costs remained affordable within the 
revenue budget available including reserves. The capital financing reserves will start 
to be drawn down to meet the costs associated with the borrowing in 2024/25 
  
Decision 
  
The Executive note the report. 
  
 

Page 20

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Exe/24/16 Medium Term Financial Strategy and 2024/25 Revenue Budget  
 
The Executive considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer, 
which set out the strategic and financial context which supported the 2024/25 Budget 
based on the outcome of the Final Local Government Finance Settlement. 
  
The report went on to set out the strategic and statutory context for setting the 
budget, which included:- 
  
• The Our Manchester Strategy; 
• Progress to date on delivering the Our Manchester Strategy,  
• The Corporate Plan; 
• A summary of the financial position and context; 
• The required statutory assessment of the robustness of the proposed budget 

and adequacy of proposed reserves; 
• Other fiduciary and statutory duties; and 
• Financial Governance. 
  
The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), approved in February 2023, 
recognised that significant budget cuts would need to be delivered over the Spending 
Review period to set a balanced budget in future years. When the three-year MTFS 
was presented in February 2023 an indicative balanced 2024/25 budget was set out. 
The forecast gap for 2025/26 was £40m. 
  
It was reported that the provisional finance settlement had been disappointing. 
Despite the well reported financial difficulties being faced by Local Authorities across 
the sector there was no new funding for public services announced and instead, an 
unexpected 84% cut in core funding Services Grant was announced.  The budget 
impact of the provisional settlement was a £2.4m worsening of the position for 
2024/25, expected to rise to £5.3m in 2025/26. At the same time the in-year budget 
position for the Council was worsening meaning that the budget needed to allow for 
topping up the General Fund reserve by at least £1m to maintain the reserve at a 
reasonable level to enable the overspend to be funded. 
  
In addition to the settlement announcement, Manchester continued to face growing 
pressures in social care and homelessness.  In the last two months there had been 
an increase in children's placement numbers and costs, further significant pressures 
across ASC budgets and some worrying trends in asylum seekers/migrant 
policy/homelessness.  This was in line with national trends and core cities and other 
GM authorities were all reporting similar issues.  
  
Work throughout January quantified the full year effect of the increased numbers of 
residents requiring care and support, which came to £18.4m.  After demand 
management and proactive mitigations of £8.4m this had been reduced to an 
additional budget requirement of £10m in 2024/25.   Whilst extremely challenging it 
was important that a realistic and deliverable budget was set which recognised these 
additional pressures and allowed a realistic budget to be set.  As such the following 
mitigations had been proposed to finalise the revenue budget:- 
  
•                A £5.5m Greater Manchester Combined Authority waste levy rebate 

Page 21

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

•                £0.6m final GMCA levy announcements 
•                £3.93m through improved Council Tax and Business Rates collection,  
•                including the introduction of a 100% Council Tax premium on  
•                unfurnished empty homes. 
•                £1.5m through extra income from buildings owned by the Council –  
•                through increased rental charges and the renting out of vacant units 
•                £1.2m through interest on airport loans and investments  
•                £1m through energy savings due to reductions in wholesale prices 
•                £0.5m through the rephasing of ICT investments 
•                £0.5m through the rephasing of Growth & Development investments 
•                £0.3m through in-year underspends in back office budgets and  
•                reduced travel costs 
  
It was important to note that £8.53m of the measures proposed to close the £15m 
gap are non-recurrent, meaning more permanent proposals would need to be found 
for 2025/26 and beyond as illustrated below:- 
  
  2024 / 25  2025 / 26  2026 / 27  
  £'000  £'000  £'000  
Position reported to 
Executive February 
2023 MTFS 

0 40,392 54,164 

Directorate Pressures  25,325 32,589 38,653 
Other changes including 
confirmation of 100% 
business rates retention 

(21,170) (40,636) (41,327) 

Directorate Savings (2,500) (2,500) (2,500) 
Position reported to 
Resources and 
Governance 9 Nov 2023  

1,655 29,845 48,990 

Provisional Settlement 
changes  

2,374 6,403 6,394 

Increase General Fund to 
reflect worsening 
overspend  

1,000 0 0 

Revised Shortfall / 
(surplus) after 
settlement reported to 
Resources and 
Governance 11 Jan 
2024  

5,029 36,248 55,384 

Full year impact of 
increased Social Care 
pressures 

10,000 10,000 10,000 

Mitigations identified 
January 2024 

(15,029) (17,448) (24,619) 

Shortfall / (surplus) 0 28,800 40,765 

Page 22

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

  
As such, Savings options had been developed consisting of £21.3m for 2024/25 and 
£10.1 for 2025/26:- 
  

  Amount of Saving   

Service Area 2024/25   2025/26   2026/27   Total   
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  

Indicative FTE 
Impact   

Adults Services   7,855 2,200 0 10,055 0 
Public Health    15 0 0 15 0 
Childrens 
Services 

6,142 3,394 0 9,536 0 

Neighborhoods   4,211 3,104 0 7,315 3 
Corporate Core    1,359 1,089 0 2,448 37 
Growth and 
Development  

1,460 315 0 1,775 1 

Cross Cutting  332 0 0 332 0 
Total Savings   21,374 10,102 0 31,476 41 
  
Taking into account the above changes to the financial assumptions; the impact of 
the Autumn Statement and final Finance Settlement; the setting of the Council Tax 
and Business Rates base and Collection Fund surplus and the changes to savings 
and investment proposals, the forecast budget position was:- 
 
  2023 / 24 2024 / 25 2025 / 26 2026 / 27 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Resources Available:         

Business Rates / Settlement 
Related Funding  

376,527 406,999 418,394 425,002 

Council Tax 217,968 231,034 249,114 266,520 
Grants and other External 
Funding  

130,494 142,907 104,614 104,614 

Dividends  0 195 390 390 
Use of Reserves 17,087 29,380 32,853 27,982 
Total Resources Available 742,076 810,515 805,365 824,508 
Resources Required:         

Corporate Costs:         

Levies / Statutory Charge 70,060 72,463 78,806 78,610 
Contingency 600 600 600 600 
Capital Financing 43,926 43,926 43,926 43,926 
Transfer to Reserves 1,335 8,968 0 0 
Sub Total Corporate Costs 115,921 125,957 123,332 123,136 

Page 23

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Directorate Costs:         

Additional Allowances and other 
pension costs 

8,497 8,497 8,497 8,497 

Insurance Costs 2,004 2,004 2,004 2,004 
Inflationary Pressures and 
budgets to be allocated 

2,101 17,357 33,492 50,226 

Directorate Budgets 613,553 656,700 666,788 681,267 
Subtotal Directorate Costs 626,155 684,558 710,781 741,994 
Total Resources Required 742,076 810,515 834,113 865,130 
Shortfall / (surplus) 0 0 28,748 40,622 
  
The report explained that the Council's net revenue budget was funded from five 
main sources: Business Rates, Council Tax, government grants, dividends, and use 
of reserves. In recent years the on-going reductions in central government funding 
had increased the importance of growing and maintaining local income and local 
funding sources, which was now integral to the Council’s financial planning.  The total 
resources available to support the Council’s net budget position was as follows:- 
  
  Revised 

2022 / 23 
2023 / 24 2024 / 25 2025 / 26 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Resources 
Available 

        

Business Rates / 
Settlement Related 
Funding  

235,553 374,725 380,005 386,872 

Council Tax 208,965 217,968 228,087 237,279 

Grants and other 
External Funding  

104,559 126,439 127,968 116,055 

Dividends  0 0 0 0 

Use of Reserves 141,522 17,087 31,861 28,372 

Total Resources 
Available 

690,599 736,219 767,921 768,578 

  
The assumption in regards Council Tax was that the Council would apply a 2.99% 
Council Tax increase in the basic amount, and a further 2% increase to provide extra 
funding for Adult Social Care, equating to a 4.99% Council Tax increase overall. 
  

 
2023/24 
C’Tax 

2025/25 
C’Tax 

Proposed 
Increase 

Increase 
per week 

 £ £ £ % £ 

Page 24

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Manchester City Council - 
Band D 1,969.50 2,068.25 98.75 5.01% 1.90 
Manchester City Council - 
Band A 1,312.99 1,378.83 65.84 5.01% 1.27 
Band A receiving CTS at 
82.5% plus CTS Fund of 
£25 in 2023/24, compared to 
2024/25 at 85.0% 

204.77 206.83 2.05 1.00% 0.04 

  
It was also reported that the forecasted council tax collection rate was 96.5% in 
2024/25, and an increase in the council tax base of 2.0% was forecasted reflecting 
housing growth within the city. This would bring an additional £5.6m income  
 
The report examined the future funding uncertainties facing the Council. The Deputy 
Chief Executive and City Treasurer had examined the major assumptions used within 
the budget calculations and had carried out sensitivity analysis to ascertain the levels 
of potential risk in the assumptions being used. The key risks identified to the delivery 
of a balanced budget and their mitigation were set out in the report. 
  
The details of the Business Rate calculations, forecasts and assumptions were set 
out in the report, as well as the financial changes arising from the business rate 
related grants and funding the government had provided to support businesses. 
  
The report provided a breakdown of the other non-ringfenced grants and 
contributions included in the budget. The most significant grants and contributions 
were described in detail in the report. 
  
  2023 / 24 2024 / 25 2025 / 26 2026 / 27 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Better Care Fund (Improved)  31,748 31,748 31,748 31,748 
Children's and Adult's Social Care Grant  50,695 65,773 60,218 60,218 
Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of 
Care Fund 

10,298 11,664 11,664 11,664 

Adult Social Care Discharge Fund 4,451 7,420 7,420 7,420 
2022/23 Services Grant  7,230 1,248 0 0 
New Homes Bonus Grant 6,637 4,109 0 0 
Loan Income from Airport  6,913 7,913 1,000 1,000 
Contribution from MHCC 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 
Education Services Grant  1,055 955 955 955 
Housing Benefit Admin Subsidy 2,514 2,514 2,514 2,514 
Care Act Grant - Prison only from 16/17 95 95 95 95 
Settlement Risk          
Proposed share of waste rebate 4,858 5,468 0 0 
Settlement risk 0 0 (15,000) (15,000) 
Total Non Ring-fenced Grants 130,494 142,907 104,614 104,614 

Page 25

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

  
The report also examined the use of resources and the proposed revenue 
expenditure by the Council in 2024/25. The forecast of levy payments the Council 
would have to make to other authorities in 2024/245 was:- 
  
  2023 / 24 2024 / 25 2025 / 26 2026 / 27 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
GMCA -  Waste Disposal 
Authority 

30,632 31,809 33,059 34,669 

Transport Levy 39,076 40,289 41,901 43,577 
Statutory Charge to GMCA 0 0 3,481 0 
Environment Agency 258 258 258 258 
Port Health 94 96 96 96 
Net Cost of Levies 70,060 72,452 78,795 78,599 
  
The waste disposal levy was paid over to Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
(GMCA) and this contributed towards their costs of funding Greater Manchester 
Waste Disposal Authority (GMWDA).  Based on figures provided by GMCA the 
2024/25 levy costs were to increase by £1.2m inclusive of changes in costs, recycling 
rates and market prices for recyclates and energy.   The Transport Levy was to cover 
the costs of providing the greater Manchester integrated transport system, including 
the Metrolink and subsidised bus services, as well as transport infrastructure 
developments. The final amount would be decided as part of the GMCA budget 
process.  In addition the ten GM authorities had committed to contributing toward the 
GM Mayors bus franchising policy, and bus reform.  The £3.481m in 2025/26 
reflected the council’s contribution for this. 
  
The capital financing budget of £43.926m was to cover the costs of borrowing. For 
2024/25 the forecast breakdown included:- 
  
●    Costs of £91.5m as follows:  

• Interest costs of £51.0m, 
• Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) of £40.2m, being the provision for the 

repayment of debt incurred to fund an asset, spread over the useful 
economic life of the asset, 

• Debt Management Expenses of £0.3m, and 
●    Partly offset by: 

• interest receivable of £46.2m; and 
• Contribution from capital financing reserve of £1.4m 
  

Allowances of £8.497m had also been made for retired staff and teachers’ pensions 
to meet the cost of added-years payments awarded to former employees. 
  
The report explained the main assumptions that had been made when calculating 
provision to be made for inflation and other anticipated costs. These could not, at this 
point in time, be allocated to Directorate or other budgets. They would instead be 
allocated throughout the coming year. The total provision being proposed was 
£7.169m for 2024/25, broken down into:- 
   

Page 26

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

 
2023 / 24 2024 / 

25 
2025 / 

26 
2026 / 

27 
  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Non Pay 
Inflation 

1,041 9,497 14,300 19,300 

Pay Inflation 0 11,100 22,400 34,100 
Apprentice 
Levy (0.5%) 

1,060 1,092 1,124 1,158 

Utilities 
Reductions 

0 (4,000) (4,000) (4,000) 

  

Cross Cutting 
Savings 

0 (332) (332) (332) 

Total  2,101 17,357 33,492 50,226 
Year on year 
Impact 

2,101 15,256 16,136 16,734 

  
The report explained that the Council held a number of reserves, all of which, aside 
from the General Fund Reserve, had been set aside to meet specific future 
expenditure or risks. A full review of all the reserves held had been carried out as part 
of the budget setting process and the planned use of reserves in 2024/25 to support 
revenue expenditure was as follows:- 

 
  2023 / 24 2024 / 25 Spend supported by the reserve  
  £'000 £'000   

Reserves directly 
supporting the 
council wide 
revenue budget: 

      

Airport Dividend 
reserve 1,073 13,116 

The  balance of £14.2m has been applied 
to support the MTFP budget in 2023/24 
(£1.1m) and 2024/25 (£13.1m). 

Budget Smoothing 
Reserve  0 3,742 

Created through underspends in precious 
years as reported through Executive and 
from transfers from other reserves 
following a full review. It has been applied 
across the next four years to reduce the 
requirement for savings and smooth the 
funding cliff edge until the future funding 
position becomes clearer.  

Business Rates 
Reserve  7,166 0 

Business rates relief provided over the 
pandemic and funded by Government.  
Applied to offset Collection Fund deficit in 
arrears. 

Use of St Johns 
growth reserve to 1,156 830 Growth in business rates income in the St 

Johns footprint, used to support the budget 

Page 27

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

  2023 / 24 2024 / 25 Spend supported by the reserve  
  £'000 £'000   

support revenue 
budget  
Use of reserves to 
contribute to the 
cost of Anti Poverty 
measures  

0 2,000 

Contribution to the additional £3.5m 
support which has been provided to 
support residents through the Cost of 
Living crisis  

Contribution to 
GMCA relating to 
bus reform  

0 0 
£3.5m contribution to GMCA relating to 
budget reform. Note this is funded from 
rebates previously received from GMCA.  

Use of Smoothing 
reserve to fund 
Adult Social Care 
budget for New 
Care Models  

1,300 1,300 

An investment of £1.3m per year 2023-26 
will sustain the social work infrastructure 
and reablement capacity, supporting care 
models covering Crisis, Discharge to 
Assess and Manchester Case 
Management. 

Use of  Bus Lane 
and Parking 
reserves reserve to 
support transport 
levy   

6,392 8,392 

This includes the continuation of £6.3m a 
year agreed in previous years, an 
additional contribution from annual trend 
growth and £1m from 2024/25 increasing 
to £2m 2025/26 funded through forecast 
income from moving Traffic offences.  

Sub Total  17,087 29,380   

Ring-fenced 
Reserves outside 
the General Fund: 

      

HRA Reserves 11,814 25,675 

HRA reserves are ringfenced – not 
available to support Council position. 
Significant balance to support future 
capital investment, including Carbon 
reduction and increased housing provision. 
The HRA must balance in year, and work 
is ongoing to identify sufficient savings to 
ensure this is the case. Much of the 
reserve will be used during this period. 

School Reserves 0 0 

Ringfenced – School balances not 
available to support the Council position.  
The expected 22/23 drawdowns are based 
on returns from schools.  

Sub Total  11,814 25,675   

Other Earmarked 
reserves: 

      

Page 28

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

  2023 / 24 2024 / 25 Spend supported by the reserve  
  £'000 £'000   

Statutory Reserves 8,179 6,597 

Can only be used for specific purposes 
under statute e.g. Bus Lane Enforcement 
and on street parking income which 
support costs associated with transport 
provision and highways / environmental 
improvements. Some of the reserve funds 
the free bus from Piccadilly and the 
Transport levy. 

Balances Held for 
PFI's 65 198 Held to meet costs across the life of the 

PFI schemes  

Managing 
economic and 
commercial risks 

5,890 7,166 

These reserves help manage annual 
fluctuations in income including planning, 
investment and licencing. A significant part 
of the Planning Reserve will be required to 
support the development of the Local Plan.  

Insurance Fund 500 500 
Insurance fund reserve to meet uninsured 
risks, amount required is estimated each 
year.  

Capital Fund 
Reserve 

40,708 14,117 

Contribution to schemes which are 
supporting employment and growth, future 
carbon reduction investments and high 
priority strategic development opportunities 
in the city.  

Investment Reserve 1,873 2,047 

This reserve is in place to support 
regeneration projects. The proposed use 
includes  funding for  staffing posts in 
Strategic Housing, Major Regeneration, 
the Investment Estate, and City Centre 
Regeneration 

Manchester 
International 
Festival Reserve 

2,659 1,000 To fund agreed contributions to Factory 
International  

Eastlands Reserve 4,389 4,050 

This reserve reflects the contribution from 
Manchester City Football Club and will be 
used for various projects including English 
Institute of Sport. 

Town Hall Reserve 2,103 2,917 

The refurbishment of the Town Hall, which 
is included within the Capital Programme 
Budget will also have revenue implications 
such as the cost of financing capital, 
alternative accommodation costs, and loss 
of income over a number of years; offset in 
part by reduced spend on maintenance 
and utilities 

Page 29

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

  2023 / 24 2024 / 25 Spend supported by the reserve  
  £'000 £'000   

Enterprise Reserve 99 102 
Enterprise Zone reserve which will fund EZ 
Manager post and activities to attract 
businesses to the zone 

Highways 
Commuted Sum 89 89 Highways Commuted sums contribute 

towards future maintenance 

Other reserves held 
to support delivery 
and risk of the 
Medium Term 
Financial Plan  

7,332 3,534 

Includes funding for to drive the delivery of 
Our Manchester; (for example through 
providing Voluntary Sector Grants) and 
Supporting Families reserve  to support the 
Thriving Families initiative, a whole family, 
strengths-based approach to child 
protection. 

Reserves held for 
accounting 
purposes 

6,672 4,069 

Relates to grants received - under 
accounting standards these must be held 
in a reserve to move between financial 
years.  

Making Manchester 
Fairer 2,089 900 

To provide capacity to fund the kickstarter 
schemes supporting the Making 
Manchester Fairer ambition  

Adult Social Care 
Reserve  5,264 2,449 To support Adult and Social Care 

Improvement Plan 
ICT Investment 
Reserve 1,914 16,866 To support ICT Digital Strategy 

Other Specific 
Reserves 2,562 4,448 Includes Community Safety, Primary 

School Catering and Social Value Fund  

General Fund 6,206 0 Forecast drawdown of General Fund 
reserve  

  127,494 126,103   

  
Where reserves were used to support the Council’s overall budget position or 
corporate expenditure such as levies, these were shown gross as part of the 
Resources required. The use of these reserves totalled £29m in 2024/25.  Of this 
£13m is from the airport reserve, £1.3m for New Care Models, £2m to support anti 
poverty and £8.3m supporting the transport levy.   
  
The proposals for the Directorates’ cash limit budgets were detailed in the Directorate 
Budgets 2024/25 reports that were also being considered at the meeting (Minute 
Exe/24/17 to 24/26 below). The overall position was:- 
  
 
 
 
 

Page 30

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

  2023 / 24 Revised 2024 / 25 

  Net 
Budget  

Gross 
Budget  Net Budget  Gross 

Budget  
  £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000  
Children Services 143,806 607,129 156,383 631,740 
Adults Services 219,666 285,023 247,439 314,972 
Public Health 43,266 54,126 45,016 55,684 
Corporate Core 109,617 333,586 112,535 333,940 
Neighbourhoods (Incl. 
Highways) 

108,593 248,834 108,182 247,543 

Growth and Development (11,395) 37,860 (12,855) 38,236 
Total  613,553 1,566,558 656,700 1,622,115 
  
The budget assumptions that underpinned 2024/25 to 2026/27 included the 
commitments made as part of the 2023/24 budget process to fund ongoing demand 
pressures, as well as provision to meet other known pressures and investments. 
Whilst this contributed to the scale of the budget gap it was important that a realistic 
budget was set which reflected ongoing cost and demand pressures. 
  
It was the opinion of the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer that any 
significant budget risks to the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account had 
been identified and that suitable proposals were being put in place to mitigate against 
these risks where possible.  The Council’s budget monitoring procedures were very 
well embedded and were designed to monitor high level risks and volatile budgets.  
An assessment of anticipated business rates income had been carried out based on 
the information available and provision had been made for outstanding appeals.  This 
was considered to be a prudent provision. 
  
The Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer considered that the assumptions on 
which the budget had been proposed whilst challenging were manageable within the 
flexibility allowed by the General Fund balance and the smoothing reserve available 
to support the future budget position. This meant the Deputy Chief Executive and City 
Treasurer was confident the overall budget position of the Council could be sustained 
within the overall level of resources available.  However, to the degree that the 
budget savings were not achieved in a timely manner and reserves were called on to 
achieve a balanced position, further savings would need to be identified and 
implemented in order to ensure the Council’s future financial stability was maintained. 
  
It was recognised that Manchester continued to lead the way in terms of 
transformation, delivering efficient services and creating the conditions for all of its 
communities to benefit from economic growth. The Council had maintained its 
reputation for innovation and reform through a number of key mechanisms and the 
proposed budget and business plan was a continuation of commitment to the delivery 
of the Our Manchester Strategy and how it has been used as a framework for 
prioritising the deployment of resources.   
  
 

Page 31

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Decisions 
  
The Executive:- 
  
(1)      Note the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer’s review of the robustness 

of the estimates and the adequacy of the reserves.  
(2)      Note that the financial position has been based on the final Local Government 

Finance Settlement announced on 5 February 2024 together with any further 
announcements at that date. 

(3)     Note the anticipated financial position for the Council for the period of 2024/25 
which is based on all proposals being agreed. 

(4)     Note the resources available are utilised to support the financial position to best 
effect, including use of reserves and prior years dividends; consideration of the 
updated Council Tax and Business Rates position; the financing of  capital 
investment, and the availability and application of grants. 

(5)     Note that the Capital Strategy and Budget 2024/25 to 2026/2 has been 
presented alongside this report 

(6)     Recommend to Council to approve, as elements of the budget for 2024/25:- 
  

a.      an increase in the basic amount of Council Tax (i.e., the Council’s element 
of Council Tax) by 2.99% and Adult Social Care precept increase of 2%. 

b.      the contingency sum of £0.6m 
c.       corporate budget requirements to cover levies/charges of £70.060m, 

capital financing costs of £43.926m, additional allowances and other 
pension costs of £8.497m and insurance costs of £2.004m. 

d.      the inflationary pressures and budgets to be allocated in the sum of 
£17.357m; and delegate the final allocations to the Deputy Chief Executive 
and City Treasurer in consultation with the Executive Member for Finance 
and Human Resources. 

  
(7)     Approve the gross and net Directorate cash limits 
(8)     Approve the in-principal contribution to the Adults aligned budget, subject to the 

extension of the S75 Agreement with Manchester Foundation Trust, which will 
be considered by Executive in March 2024. 

(9)     Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer and Chief 
Executive in consultation with the Executive Member for Finance and Human 
Resources and the Leader of the Council to draft the recommended budget 
resolution for budget setting Council to provide an itemised council tax bill 
which, on the face of the bill, informs taxpayers of that part of any increase in 
council tax which is being used to fund adult social care. 

(10)   Recommend that Council approve and adopt the budget for 2024/25 
 
Exe/24/17 Corporate Core Budget 2024/25  
 
The report of the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer and City Solicitor 
explained how the budget proposals for the Directorate had been developed. 
  
Following the provisional finance settlement announced 18 December the Council 
was forecasting an estimated budget shortfall of £38m in 2024/25, £79m in 2025/26, 
and £90m by 2026/27. After the application of approved and planned savings, and 

Page 32

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

the use of c.£17m smoothing reserves in each of the three years, the budget was 
balanced for 2024/25 and the remaining gap reduced to £29m in 2025/26 and £41m 
by 2026/27. This position assumed that savings of £21.4m will be delivered next 
year. 
  
The Corporate Core had delivered savings of £3.365m in 2023/24 and currently had 
approved savings of a further £2.734m over the next three financial years with 
£0.677m scheduled in 2024/25.  The already approved £0.677m savings for 2024/25 
were split between Future Programme savings £472k and general housekeeping 
savings of £205k. 
  
In addition to the already approved savings and in recognition of the work required to 
balance the overall council budget, further options for savings have been developed, 
and the areas considered included the following:- 
  
•                Review of workforce structures and capacity alongside taking a realistic view 

on the ability to fill longstanding vacancies. 
•                Review all income generation from sales, fees and charges and whether there 

are opportunities to increase charges in line with inflation and increase income. 
• Review all savings proposals that have not been taken forward as part of the 

2023/24 budget process.   
  
The measures proposed included:-  
  
• Additional income of £130k: 

•                £50k from increased vehicle clamping income. 
•                £80k from increased registrars income following the price increase that 

was introduced during 2023/24 which aligned Manchester registrars fee 
levels with that of other Core Cities. 

  
It was reported that the Council’s staffing establishment was budgeted at the top of 
the grade, with an allowance made to allow for vacancies, staff not being at top of 
grade and in year turnover. Despite this, staffing budgets had continued to 
consistently underspend across all directorates.  All vacant posts had been reviewed, 
with a focus on those that have been vacant for longer than 12 months, to determine 
which posts should be deleted with the least impact on service delivery.   
  
As part of the Council wide £1m saving from vacant posts the Corporate Core had 
identified total savings of £286k through deletion of eight long term vacant posts 
  
In terms of budget growth and as part of the 2023/24 budget approvals £0.783m was 
approved for 2024/25 and this was in respect of:-  
  
• A regular refresh programme of ICT equipment would be undertaken, and an 

annual budget of £0.75m was approved from 2024 as part of the 2023/24 
budget to support the ongoing costs of the refresh programme.  

• £33k growth was also agreed to offset pressures in HROD (£23k due to 
reduced school income for payroll services, and £10k in financial management 
to cover increased costs of Civica Pay licences). 

  

Page 33

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

In addition to the above growth approved as part of 2023/24 budget process further 
budget proposals of £8.123m were proposed, with £4.123m being required in 
2024/25 to address ICT investment and External Audit increased fees 
  
As part of the annual budget process all sales, fees and charges had been reviewed 
to ensure that the services were fully recovering fees where appropriate and the 
budgets reflected the level of income likely to be received.  As part of the review it 
was recommended that some external charges were increased by up to 5% from 1 
April 2024.  The increases were projected to generate a further £266k which had 
been included in the overall budget as part of the £1m increased income from sales 
fees and charges. 
  
Following the review it was proposed to increase income budgets overall by 
£0.625m. Of this £133k is as a result of updating budgets to reflect current activity 
and income and the rest is through increased charges 
  
  £000’s £000’s 
Corporate Core 2023/24 Budget    33,103 
Activity Based Changes - £100k for registrars 
and £33k from charges to release vehicles for 
being clamped post persistent parking offences 
or non taxed vehicles. 

133   

Proposed Inflationary Increases to cover costs- – 
increased charges to reflect the costs of staff pay 
award on legal services provided to other local 
authorities. 

226   

Proposed Inflationary Increases  266   
Sub Total Changes     625 
Proposed 2024/25 Budgets    33,728 
  
It was noted that the report had also been considered at a recent meeting of the 
Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee where the committee had endorsed 
the budget proposals (Minute RGSC/24/16) 
  
Decision 
  
The Executive approve the budget proposals as detailed in the report. 
 
Exe/24/18 Children and Education Services Budget 2024/25  
 
The report of the Strategic Director for Children’s and Education Services explained 
how the budget proposals for the Directorate had been developed. 
  
The gross 2023/24 budget for the Directorate was £607.293m, which included the 
Dedicated Schools Grant  delegated to maintained schools. The net budget is 
£143.801m.  As part of the 2023/24 budget setting proposals, a total of £11.8m had 
been proposed for 2023/24 to 2025/26 and there had been confidence that managing 
demand savings were achievable with most of the savings achieved through early 
intervention and managing demand. 
  

Page 34

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

  2023/24 2024/26 2025/26 Total 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Savings Profile 4,411 3,920 3,394 11,725 

  
The Directorate’s budget was currently forecast to be overspent by £7.757m.   
  
The underlying reason for this was attributed to significantly increased costs of care 
placements for Looked After Children (LAC), a shortfall in the Unaccompanied 
Asylum-Seeking Children grant for the numbers now being accommodated and an 
overspend on Home to School Transport, which was attributed to an increase in 
requests and entitlement.  
  

  2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total     
Approved Budget 
Movements 

Net Budget  

  143,801 156,378 156,763   
Savings and Growth Previously Approved November 23 Scrutiny 
Funding to Support Grow 
Population 

2,419 2,479 2,479 7,377 

Saving Approved - 2021/22 
budget setting 

-100     -100 

Savings Approved last year’s 
budget setting 

-3,920 -3,394   -7,314 

Budget Changes proposed - 2024/25 budget setting November 23 Scrutiny 
Growth, Investment and 
Inflation  

        

Looked After Placements 
Sufficiency 

6,500     6,500 

Unaccompanied Asylum-
Seeking Children 

2,200     2,200 

International New Arrivals 
Team 

300     300 

Home to School Transport - 
Support for Growing 
Population 

1,300 1,300 1,300 3,900 

School Condition Surveys 100     100 
Savings         

Workforce  -222     -222 
Sub-total reported at 
November 23 Scrutiny 

8,577 385 3,779 12,741 

Changes proposed - 2024/25 budget setting February 24 Scrutiny 
Growth, Investment and 
Inflation 

        

Additional Looked After 4,000     4,000 

Page 35

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Placements Sufficiency  

Internal Placement Cost 
Pressures 

1,440     1440 

External Residential Step-
downs Home to School 
Transport – full year effect of 
September 2023 uplifts 
Home to School Transport – 
full year effect of September 
2023 uplifts 

560     560 

Savings         

External Residential Step-
downs 

-2,000     -2,000 

Sub-total reported at 
February 24 Scrutiny 

4,000 0 0 4,000 

Total 156,378 156,763 160,542   
  
Evidence continued to show there had been significant cost avoidance through the 
actions taken to support children and young people effectively at an earlier stage and 
avoid LAC status.  However, those benefits had been outstripped by the rising costs 
of.  Additional funding was included in the budget proposals to cover these costs, but 
the focus would remain on continuing to manage demand effectively and intervening 
early.   
  
On 24 January 2024 additional funding was announced in a written statement to 
Parliament in advance of the final settlement. The announcement included a further 
£500m for social care, £15m increase in the Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG), 
and that the funding guarantee would be increased from 3% to 4% (estimate £60m 
extra). If the funding is allocated in line with the existing Social Care Grant formula, 
Manchester would receive around £5.5m.  The proposed budget had seen a 
significant additional investment of £12.6m (an increase of £4m since the November 
2023 proposals), into Children’s Social Care, with budget plans set prior to the 
announcement.  Recommendations on how to achieve maximum value from the new 
funding are being developed and will be finalised once the Final Finance Settlement 
has been published and final amounts are known. 
  
It was noted that the report had also been considered at a recent meeting of the 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee where the committee had endorsed 
the budget proposals (Minute CYP/24/09) 
  
Decision 
  
The Executive approve the Directorate budget proposals as set out in the report. 
 
 
 
 

Page 36

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Exe/24/19 Public Health Budget 2024-27  
 
The report of the Director of Public Health explained how the budget proposals for 
the Directorate had been developed. 
  
Public Health was funded nationally through a specific ringfenced grant. However, 
the Greater Manchester locality had been part of the governments business rates 
pilot for a number of years whereby the funding ringfence is removed and an 
equivalent allocation received as an adjustment to business rates.  The gross 
2023/24 budget was £54.126m with a net budget of £43.266m.  Income of £10.860m 
included use of reserves £3.753m, government grants £4.489m and other 
contributions from NHS partners, from other local authorities and Better Care Fund 
totalling £2.618m. 
  
Service Area   2023/24 

Gross 
Budget 

2023/24 
Net 

Budget 

2023/24 
Budgeted 

posts (FTE) 
  £'000  £'000  £'000  
Children's:       
Health Visitors 11,164 11,164     
Schools Health Service 4,155 4,155   
Other Children's 415 415   

Sub Total 15,734 15,734 
                 -

    
Wellbeing:       
Be Well Service 2,921 1,585   
Weight Management 599 599   
Smoking Prevention 812 570   
Falls Service 768 768   
Other Wellbeing 2,793 2,176   

Sub Total 7,892 5,696 
                 -

    
Drug & Alcohol Services:       
Integrated Treatment & Support Service  11,816 6,932   
In-patient Detox & Residential Rehab 944 944   
Young People Services  652 652   
Other Drug & Alcohol 736 736   

Sub Total 14,148 9,264 
                 -

    
Sexual Health Services:       
Sexual Health 7,216 6,387   
HIV 1,227 1,227   
Other Sexual Health 1,599 1,408   

Sub Total 10,042 9,021 
                 -

    
Making Manchester Fairer:       
COVID Health Equity Manchester (CHEM) 160 160   

Sub Total 160 160 
                 -

    

Page 37

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Other Staffing, Management & Support:       
Core Staffing  3,833 2,904            59.00  
Locality budget 0 0   
Other 2,317 487   
Sub Total 6,150 3,391            59.00  
Total Public Health 54,126 43,266            59.00  
  
The latest 2023/24 global monitoring report to the Executive outlined a £0.8m 
underspend.  Consequently, the  required 2023/24 savings of £0.730m had been 
achieved in full through a mixture of  underspends across the staffing budgets due to 
vacant posts and the maximisation of external funding, and underspends on other 
indirect staffing costs. 
  
The provisional public health settlement had been received for 2024/25, a 1.318% 
increase totalling £0.752m. The final confirmation was expected before the end of 
March 2024. No additional growth and pressures were approved for 2024-26.  
Provision had been made for inflationary price increases and potential pay awards. 
This was held corporately and would be allocated to service budgets when the details 
were available and considered together with the funding settlement for Public Health 
  
The 2023/24 budget for the Manchester Locality Structure for health was 
provisionally set at £8.3m, which was lower than the existing cost of the locality 
structure. The budget and structures were subject to consultation prior to a final 
agreed position with the Integrated Care Board (ICB). The final allocation for running 
costs was £7.8m.  
  
To avoid losing capacity that was essential to the provision of NHS services in 
Manchester and to ensure there was a managed transition to reducing costs, the 
Council had agreed to fund the public health, population health and equality, 
inclusion and engagement teams, recurrently by applying £0.5m of public health 
grant. In addition, a one off £1m from the Public Health reserve was proposed to 
smooth the transition from the CCG to the locality place based budgets and 
underwrite any potential shortfall. 
  
Further work was being undertaken to reduce costs and ensure the 2024/25 budget 
was within the resources available. The 2024/25 planning round was currently 
underway to understand what recurrent allocations were available from the ICB to 
support running costs. This was focused on further aligning health and care within 
Manchester, working across the partnership to create a more integrated model for the 
City, focused on delivering the right outcomes for Manchester’s population in a 
financially sustainable way.  Further discussions were being held on the locality 
budget and there was a need to manage the use of all available resources to support 
the integration of health and care across Manchester.  
  
The public health budget had been allocated to ensure sustainable funding for the 
previously funded CCG/GMICB health protection posts and the CCG/GMICB 
Engagement and Equalities function, which would be fully integrated into the 
Manchester Locality (MLCO and MCC) from 1 April 2024.  
  

Page 38

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

The other budget priorities for public health related to the demand pressures on 
commissioned services such as sexual health, along with the investments in the 
Making Manchester Fairer Programme which was a priority for the City Council and 
partners. This work needed to be concluded before the final decisions on the 
allocation of the funding could be made. 
  
In terms of Making Manchester Fairer (MMF) (the Council’s five-year action plan to 
address health inequalities in the city focussing on the social determinants of health), 
investment of up to £2.989m over the 2023/24 and 2024/25 financial years had been 
identified from Public Health reserves. This was one off funding of which £2.281m 
had been used to support the Kickstarters programme, and this was phased over 
2023/24 (£944k) and 2024/25 (£1.337m). The remaining £0.708m budget was 
allocated to programme delivery that included, staffing costs, communications and 
other commissioned activity. 
  
MMF Spend Allocation 2023/24 

£’000 
2024/25 

£’000 
Total 
£’000 

Programme Resources 200 508 708 
CYP - Childrens Kickstarter 792 208 1,000 
CYP - Young People’s Kickstarter 137 294 431 
Early Help for Adults Kickstarter 15 835 850 
TOTAL 1,144 1,845 2,989 
   
In addition, It had been agreed that a 5% of the Cost of Living Group budget (£178k) 
would be made available to support the Anti Poverty Strategy work. 
  
There were no workforce implications based on the budget proposals. More 
generally, work had taken place over the past 12 months to establish virtual teams 
aligned to thematic delivery. This had provided a better environment in which to 
share skills and expertise across the Department and provided clarity and stability to 
the workforce post-pandemic 
  
It was noted that the report had also been considered at a recent meeting of the 
Health Scrutiny Committee where the committee had endorsed the budget proposals 
(Minute HSC/24/08) 
  
Decision 
  
The Executive approve the budget proposals as set out in the report. 
 
Exe/24/20 Adult Social Care Budget 2024/25  
 
The report of the Executive Director for Adult Social Services explained how the 
budget proposals for the Directorate had been developed. 
  
The gross 2023/24 budget was £285.023m and the net budget of £219.666m. 
Income of £65.357m which included client fees £30.416m, Better Care Fund Grant 
£17.791m, contributions from NHS partners of £10.267m and other income of 
£6.883m which included grants and use of reserves.  
  

Page 39

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Growth and pressures of £26.372m were estimated and included in the Medium 
Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for 2024-26, as part of the 2023/24 budget approvals 
process, alongside an additional £5.936m of base assumptions for 2026/27. Together 
the current MTFP included £32.308m of funding of which £6.074m related to the 
transfer of grant funding in accordance with the statutory conditions, the Market 
Sustainability and Improvement Fund (MSIF) original allocation (£3.105m) and the 
Adult Discharge fund (£2.969m), with the balance of £26.234m Council funding for 
demographics and towards the care fee uplift, including use of the proposed Adult 
Social Care precept.  
  
Further pressures identified included:- 
  
• A £9m pressure into 2024/25 arising from the 2023/24 financial forecast position 

(as at August 2023), which was fully mitigated through a combination of 
additional resources and specific service initiatives detailed (and now presented 
in this report in the savings section below); 

• Additional demographics in 2024/25 of £3.735m including £2m for transition of 
children to adult support, with increases of £1.064m in 2025/26 and £0.764m in 
2026/27 to set the demographics budget to £4m in each year; 

• Additional funding towards the cost of care uplifts of £3.500m in 2024/25; 
• Mainstreaming the cost of new care models £1.300m from 2026/27; and  
• An expected £1.779m reduction in the 2024/25 MSIF workforce grant from 

£4.055m to £2.276m  
  

The above represented an additional £8.584m, bringing the total investment 2024-27 
to £40.892m 
  
In addition, the full year cost into 2024/25 of clients in long term care as at November 
was assessed at £20.812m above the existing budget. And it had been deemed 
prudent to provide £1.5m for further growth in homecare to the end of the financial 
year. 
  
Key budget movements were summarised as follows:- 
  
  2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 
  £'000 £'000 £'000 
Cash limit 219,666  247,439  255,250  
        
Growth 2,636 2,936 3,236 
Demography 1,735  1,064  764  
Demography - Additional  2,000      
Demography - Transitions       
  22,312     
Additional Long Term Care Pressures 
and Homecare 

2,295     

Transitions and Demographics 1,000     
Mental Health investment 500     
Commissioning and contracting capacity 
and system hub 

-13,400     

Less: additional funding and repurposed       

Page 40

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

budget mitigation plan 
Grants 2,969      
ADF for new investments 3,105      
MSIF -1,739      
MSIF Workforce - Reduction       
Care Costs 458  2,011    
Price 2,274      
ASC Precept passthrough 5,983  4,000  4,000  
Real Living Wage 3,500      
Fair Cost of Care       
Saving Programme -2,200  -2,200    
Savings 1,000     
Amendment to existing programme -6,400     
New saving programme -255      
Additional Vacancy Factor 247,439  255,250  263,250  
  
The recurrent underlying position for 2024/25 had become significantly more 
challenging over the last five months and whilst the budget challenges outlined were 
significant, due to cost effective management of demand, Manchester’s social care 
financial pressures were less than many comparable authorities 
  
Overall there were £27.107m of additional budget pressures.   Substantial work had 
been completed to mitigate these pressures, with a plan of £19.8m savings put in 
place, which left a residual additional budget requirement of £6.807m and this had 
been included in the proposed update to the medium term financial plan.   Of the 
£19.8m savings proposed, £13.4m would be achieved through additional funding and 
reallocated budgets which was secure and £6.4m of service actions which would be 
added to the approved savings programme but which included a level of risk.  The 
Directorate had also committed to the delivery of an additional workforce savings 
target from reducing a number of long term vacant posts in the establishment by 
£0.255m for 2024/25. 
  
It was also reported that there was heightened work underway across 
Commissioning, Contracts and Market Development in response to the fragility of the 
current care market.  A MLCO Commissioning Plan had been developed which would 
act as a key communication tool with providers, partners, wider stakeholders, citizens 
and the commissioning workforce. This Plan would set out the key principles of how 
commissioning was intended to be more ‘responsive’ to the frontline staff as part of 
the Better Outcomes Better Lives transformation programme, and for staff to highlight 
where there were perceived gaps in provision. 
  
Whilst there was additional investment proposed for the Adult Social Care budgets 
there remained  considerable pressure and the fragility of the social care market, the 
increased demands for mental health services in particular remain key risks. 
  
It was noted that the budget report had also been considered at a recent meeting of 
the Health Scrutiny Committee and the committee had endorsed the proposals in the 
report (Minute HSC/24/08). 
  
 

Page 41

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Decision 
  
The Executive approve the Directorate budget proposals as set out in the report. 
 
Exe/24/21 Neighbourhoods Directorate Budget 2024/25  
 
The report of the Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) explained how the budget 
proposals for the Directorate had been developed. 
  
The Neighbourhood Services Directorate had a gross budget of £262m and a net 
budget of £139.225m. The Directorate employed 1,916 fte. 
  
Savings of £3.937m had already been approved for 2024/27 as part of prior year 
budget approvals and these remained on track to be delivered, however the ability to 
deliver these savings was being reviewed on an ongoing basis and provision had 
been made in the budget position to offset £1m of this risk 
  
Description of savings  2024/25 

£000’s  
2025/26 
£000’s 

2026/27 
£000’s 

Total 
£000’s 

Parks & Open Spaces  100 0 0 100 
Waste & Street Cleansing  0 400 0 400 
Homelessness  2,070 1,332 0 3,402 
Highways  35 0 0 35 
Total Already Approved 
Savings  

2,205 1,732 0 3,937 

  
As part of the 2023/24 budget process savings were identified over a three-year 
period and it was intended that the 2024/25 budget would be light touch and no 
further savings would be required.  
  
The original plan to deliver the Homelessness savings was based on a reduction in 
Temporary Accommodation numbers, although significant reductions have been 
made for the number of families supported in B&B the pressures faced remain 
significant. Agreement had been reached with DLUHC to review longer term leasing 
options for Temporary Accommodation units which would allow full housing benefit 
recovery and ease a significant proportion of the Housing Subsidy loss faced by the 
service.   
  
In light of the current financial years pressures and ongoing high inflation rates it had 
been necessary to revisit the initial assumptions and identify further savings options 
for consideration.  As part of identifying further savings options the initial priority had 
been to protect service delivery wherever possible, and this had included looking to 
increase income generation opportunities where possible. The additional proposed 
savings were summarised as follows:- 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Amount of Saving  
2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  Total  

Service  
Description 
of Saving  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  

            
Community 
Safety 

A temporary 
reduction in 
the 
contribution to 
the security 
measures for 
Christmas 
whilst Albert 
Square is 
unavailable 40  0  0  40  

Compliance 
Increased 
Income 95 0 0 95 

Pest Control 
Increased 
Income 37 0 0 37 

Highways  
Increased 
income  184 0 0 18 

Advertising 
Income  

Increased 
Income  352 0 0 352 

Bereavements  
Increased 
Income  100 0 0 100 

Neighbourhoods 
Review of 
vacant posts 198 0  0  198  

Total    3,311 2,104 0 6,017 
  
£1m of budget had been set aside to support pressures to the Homelessness budget. 
In the last two months there has been a worrying trend in asylum seekers, the 
migrant policy and homelessness.  This was in line with national trends and Core 
Cities and other GM authorities were all reporting similar issues.  Whilst extremely 
challenging it was important that a realistic and deliverable budget was set which 
recognized these additional pressures.  
  
As part of the budget proposals an initial £0.9m investment into waste and street 
cleaning was proposed for 2024/25, this would provide £0.4m investment into waste 
collection and disposal to provide resources to meet increased demographic needs 
because of increased numbers of dwellings across the City that would require 
additional collection rounds. 
  
In addition to the waste collection investment, £400k of investment was proposed for 
Street Cleaning which recognised the stepped increase in population and footfall 
whilst providing the ability to deal with hotspots, and £100k to deal with the 
accumulation of waste on Council land proactive cleansing of land to prevent fly 
tipping with a further £300k in 2026/27. 
  
The annual waste levy costs were driven by forecast tonnages of waste to be 
disposed of and the costs of disposal. The levy was set by GMCA and based on 
latest forecasts it was anticipated that this would increase in 2024/25, with the 

Page 43

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

increase to Manchester being £1.177m.  Further increases of £1.250m have been 
assumed for 2025/26 and £1.609m for 2026/27, these increases were reflected in the 
current budget plans for those years. 
  
Following in from previous Executive endorsement of the intent to form an Event 
Commission for the City in order to secure major events in Manchester and to bring 
in contributions from key partners, budget approval for 2024/25 was to be sought for 
an annual £2m contribution from the Capital Fund to support the events commission.  
This would be funded through the growth in retained business rates. The proposed 
Council resources would be supplemented by other city partnership funding that 
would be part of the whole events commission budget and managed by the Council. 
  
Whilst the number of off-street car park users had increased post pandemic, it had 
not returned to pre covid levels and this was largely due to changes in peoples 
working arrangements and the move to hybrid working. As part of the 2023/24 
budget, temporary support of £2.1m per annum was approved using reserves.  The 
use of reserves was only temporary for two years and a longer-term parking strategy 
was being developed that would seek to better align both on street and off-street 
parking in order to ensure income was maximised. 
  
The Directorate also received a wide range of grants that totalled £18.7m in the 
current financial year.  The majority of the grants related to the Homelessness 
service and it was forecasted that Afghan Resettlement funding would reduce  in 
2024/25 with the closure of the Bridging Hotels as the level of expenditure incurred to 
support these families would reduce in line with the funding reduction and would not 
create a pressure on Council budgets. 
  
It was noted that as development continued across the city, this might lead to 
increased growth pressures for Neighbourhood Services as the number of 
households grew significantly. There was some funding proposed within the current 
budget proposals for both waste collection and street cleansing, but the increase 
demand was likely to also extend to enforcement, parks, leisure and wider 
neighbourhood working.   
  
It was noted that the budget reports had also been considered at a recent meeting of 
the Communities and Equalities Scrutiny Committee (Minute CESC/24/13), the 
Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee (Minute RGSC/24/19) and the 
Environment, Climate Change and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Committee (Minute 
ECCNSC/24/08) and both committees had endorsed the proposals in the report. 
  
Decision 
  
The Executive approve the Directorate budget proposals as set out in the report. 
 
Exe/24/22 Housing Revenue Account 2024/25 to 2026/27  
 
A joint report by the Strategic Director (Growth and Development), the Strategic 
Director (Neighbourhoods) and the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer 
presented the proposed budget for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) for 2024/25 
and indicative budgets for 2025/26 and 2026/27.  

Page 44

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

  
The report set out the requirements placed on the Council with respect to the HRA 
budget:- 
  
• The Council had to formulate proposals or income and expenditure for the 

financial year which sought to ensure that the HRA would not show a deficit 
balance;  

• To keep a HRA in accordance with proper practice to ensure that the HRA was 
in balance taking one year with another; and  

• The HRA must, in general, balance on a year-to-year basis so that the costs of 
running the Housing Service must be met from HRA income.  

  
The original approved gross HRA budget was £117m and included a £35.5m revenue 
contribution towards the £60.4m capital programme. The HRA is currently forecasting 
an overspend of £4.094m made up of  
 
• Higher than forecast costs of repairs and maintenance of £8.764m.   
• Other smaller overspends amount to £0.605m 
  
This was offset by additional interest earned on balances due to increasing interest 
rates (£1.860m) and reductions in the budget allocated to PFI sprinkler works which 
were now funded from capital receipts (£2.089m).  Other net underspends  
accounted for of £1.326m (including £1.038m reduced costs of gas because of a 
combination of reduced consumption, and reductions in wholesale gas prices).   
  
The reduction in the capital programme forecast outturn also meant that the 
budgeted £11.88m of revenue contribution to capital outlay (RCCO) was not 
required. This was to be funded in part from a transfer in of revenue reserves of 
£22.808m as set out in the original approved budget. This transfer would not be 
required until 2024/25. 
  
In previous years the Government’s formula rent guidance assumes that rents 
increase by up to CPI plus 1%. The CPI rate used was based on the September 
figure in the preceding year, and as at September 2023 CPI was 6.7%.  This HRA 
budget had been prepared in line with the formula rent of 7.7% to all tenants, with 
effect from April 2024 
  
Based on these increases, the average weekly rent (based on 53 weeks) would be: 
  
•                General Needs  £90.12 (£6.44 increase) 
•                Supported Housing  £82.34 (£5.89 increase) 
•                PFI Managed   £109.78 (£7.85 increase) 
  
In line with Manchester’s Anti-Poverty Strategy and support for residents during the 
ongoing cost of living crisis it was proposed that the community living fund was 
retained for 2024/25, at £300k. 
  
To ensure that the increase applied to garage rents remained in line with that applied 
to dwelling rents, it was proposed that 2024/25 garage rents be increased in line with 
the original rent formula of 7.7%. The impact of this increase was:-  

Page 45

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

  
  Annual 

Charge 
2022/23  

Weekly 
Charge 
2022/23  

Proposed 
Annual 
Charge 
2023/24  

Proposed 
Weekly 
Charge 
2023/24  

Proposed 
Weekly 
Increase  

Site Only  £115.86  £2.23  £124.78  £2.40  £0.17  

Prefabricated  £250.06  £4.81  £269.31  £5.18  £0.37  

Brick Built  £293.84  £5.65  £316.47  £6.09  £0.44 

  
Other income is forecasted to be c.£2.072m in 2024/25 and it was assumed that the 
majority of these budgets were uplifted by the forecast 4% inflation for 2024/25. In 
most cases there were separate lease arrangements for these premises and the 
rents were subject to increases in line with the lease conditions 
  
The Council continued to own and manage c.15,000 properties within the HRA under 
various arrangements.  In the 2023/24 financial year Right to Buy Sales (RTB) were 
lower than the peak of 233 properties in 2022/23, in the aftermath of the pandemic. 
Sales of around 136 properties (c.1% of stock numbers) were forecast in the current 
year.  The budget assumed ongoing 1% RTB sales per annum.  This would reduce 
the level of rent income achieved and the number of sales would continue to be 
closely monitored.  The current business plan did not assume that these assets were 
replaced within the HRA, and based on current assumptions there would be c11,300 
properties at the end of 30 years unless a proactive strategy of replacement was 
adopted 
  
As part of the HRA business plan it had always been the intention that tenants' 
heating charges were set to reflect the actual costs of delivering heat, this includes 
the costs of gas consumed, and costs of infrastructure maintenance to deliver heat.  
It was proposed to change the tariffs to residents in line with the price cap as set by 
Ofgem from 1 April 2024 (forecasted at £1,620), and mirror the Ofgem price cap 
going forward.  This would ensure that the charges were comparable with other 
residents who were not in communal heating schemes.  In calculating the charges 
based on the forecast Ofgem price cap the overall average charge would be £723 
per annum, which was £14.46 per week. The average charge for residents paying via 
heating debits will be £18.86 per week and for residents paying by Point of Sales will 
be £12.28 per week 
  
The report also explained the other key changes in the HRA budget for 2023/24, and 
the full budget was presented as set out below.- 
  
  2023/24 

(Forecast) 
2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 
Income         
Housing Rents (67,503) (73,509) (74,171) (75,932) 
Heating Income (1,183) (1,625) (1,520) (1,545) 
PFI Credit (23,374) (23,374) (23,374) (23,374) 

Page 46

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Other Income (3,897) (2,071) (1,153) (1,171) 
Funding from General HRA 
Reserve 

(11,814) (25,675) (25,294) (12,504) 

Total Income (107,771) (126,254) (125,512) (114,526) 
Expenditure         
Housing Services- 
Management 

14,940 15,361 15,577 15,805 

Housing Services - R&M 25,444 24,684 24,735 24,818 
PFI Contractor Payments 34,137 35,283 35,814 36,137 
Communal Heating 1,851 1,245 1,270 1,295 
Supervision and Management 6,141 5,878 5,932 6,026 
Contribution to Bad Debts 600 555 560 573 
Hardship Fund 700 300 0 0 
Depreciation 20,173 24,387 24,736 25,103 
Other Expenditure 844 890 913 936 
RCCO 0 14,976 13,280 380 
Interest Payable and similar 
charges 

2,702 2,695 2,695 3,297 

Total Expenditure 107,532 126,254 125,512 114,370 
Total Reserves (exc 
Insurance): 

        

Opening Balance (104,440) (92,626) (66,951) (41,657) 
Funding (from)/to Revenue 11,814 25,675 25,294 12,504 
Closing Balance (92,626) (66,951) (41,657) (29,153) 
  
It was noted that the proposed HRA budget 2024/25 and indication of the 2025/26 
and 2026/27 budgets had also been considered by the Resources and Governance 
Scrutiny Committee at its February 2024 meeting where the committee had noted the 
proposals in the report (Minute RGSC/24/17). 
  
Decisions 
  
The Executive 
  
(1)          Note the forecast 2023/24 HRA outturn as set out in section 4 of the report. 
(2)          Approve the 2024/25 HRA budget and note the indicative budgets for 2025/26 

and 2026/27. 
(3)          Approve the proposed 7.7% increase to dwelling rents and 7.7% increase in 

Garage rents, and delegate the setting of individual property rents, to the 
Director of Housing Operations and the Deputy Chief Executive and City 
Treasurer, in consultation with the Executive Member for Housing and 
Development and the Executive Member for Finance and Human Resources. 

(4)          Approve the proposal that the Council continues with the policy of where the 
2024/25 rent is not yet at the formula rent level, the rent is revised to the 
formula rent level when the property is re-let. 

(5)          Note the proposed 2024/25 changes for communal heating charges and 
approve the change in policy so that charges are in line with the price cap as 
set by Ofgem from 1st April 2024, and mirror the Ofgem price cap going 
forward  

Page 47

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

 
Exe/24/23 Growth and Development Directorate Budget 2024/25  
 
The report of the Strategic Director (Growth and Development) explained how the 
budget proposals for the Directorate had been developed. 
  
The Growth and Development Directorate had a gross budget of £35.6m and a net 
income budget of £11.3m and employed 439 FTEs.  In addition, Highways services 
and parking services and CCTV had a gross budget of £36.2m and net budget of 
£13.3m and employed FTE 
  
Savings of £1.020m had already been approved as part of the 2023/24 budget and 
were to be delivered through increased annual rental income of £0.985m from 
Manchester Airport Group as well as £35k increased Development fee income for 
Highways.  The increases were based on estimates provided by the Airport and 
achievement of this income was dependent on performance being in line with or 
better than the forecasts provided. The savings were phased at £170k in 2024/25 
and £0.815m in2025/26.  £35k of savings to be achieved in 2024/25 would be 
through increased development fee income for Highways 
  
In addition to the already approved savings, and in support of the work required to 
balance the overall council budget, further options for savings had been developed 
and the areas considered include the following:- 
 
• A review of workforce structures and capacity alongside taking a realistic view 

on the ability to fill longstanding vacant posts; and 
• A review of all income generation from sales, fees and charges and whether 

there are opportunities to increase charges in line with inflation. 
 
A summary of the current budgets for sales, fees and charges across Growth and 
Development Directorate was detailed as follows:- 
 
  2023/24 

Budget 
£000’s 

2024/25 
Budget 
£000’s 

2025/26 
Budget 
£000’s 

2026/27 
Budget 
£000’s 

Comments  

Investment 
Estate  

22,531 23,951 24,266 24,266 Rent and 
service charge 
income 

MCDA  1,520 1,520 1,520 1,520 Rent and 
Service charge 
income 

Strategic 
Housing  

537 553 553 553 Fees from other 
RP’s for 
Manchester 
Move and feed 
in tariffs from 
solar panels.    

Planning  3,073 3,473 3,473 3,473 Increase to 
Planning 
application fees 

Page 48

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

– set by 
Government  

Building 
Control  

1,162 1,162 1,162 1,162 Building control 
fees  

Land 
Charges  

274 274 274 274   

Premises 
Licensing  

1,174 1,174 1,174 1,174 Premises 
license fees 

Taxi 
Licensing  

2,074 2,074 2,074 2,074 Taxi License 
fees operate on 
a 3-year license 
cycle – fees are 
ringfenced 

MAES  2 2 2 2   
Grand 
Total  

32,347 34,183 34,498 34,498   

 
It was noted that the Directorate was pivotal in driving Sustainable Economic Growth 
of the city to benefit everyone. In order to continue delivering in these key areas there 
would be a need for increased capacity, and this was estimated to cost in the region 
of £0.745m.  In light of the current overall Council budget position, it was not possible 
to provide additional investment to fund these resources, but the services had now 
started to review all existing resources in order to understand how existing resources 
could be reallocated to deliver this agenda 
  
The budget report had also been considered at a recent meeting of the Economy and 
Regeneration Scrutiny Committee and the committee had endorsed the proposals in 
the report (Minute ESC/24/10). 
  
Decision 
  
The Executive approve the Directorate budget proposals as set out in the report. 
 
Exe/24/24 Dedicated Schools Grant 2024/25  
 
The Executive considered a report of the Strategic Director for Children’s and 
Education Services, which provided a summary of the confirmed Dedicated Schools 
Grant (DSG) allocation from the 2024/25 settlement. 
  
The DSG was a ring-fenced grant of which the majority was used to fund individual 
schools budgets in maintained schools and academies in the city, early years nursery 
entitlement and provision for pupils with high needs including those with Education 
Health & Care Plans (EHCPs) in special schools, special provision and mainstream 
schools in Manchester and out of city.  
  
The Council received and managed the DSG within four blocks: schools, central 
school services, high needs and early years.  A large proportion of it was paid directly 
to schools and other settings to provide the majority of education services. A 
proportion of the DSG was provided to the Council to deliver education services.  
  

Page 49

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

The 2024/25 DSG notification was received on 19 December 2023 and totalled  
£735.050m with and an overall increase in DSG since last year of £58.125m 
  
The Schools Block allocation of £537.979m had been calculated bottom up on the 
basis as if the national funding formula (NFF) was applied at school level.  On 
average the DfE has increased the formula determined by pupil level data by 1.4%. 
  
The Central School Services Block (CSSB) allocation was £3.864m and supported 
the Council’s role in education. 
  
The Higher Needs Block (HNB) allocation was £133.475m and provided increased 
funding for children and young people with special educational needs and disability 
from early years to age 25 years. The grant increase was 4.10% (£5.262m) this was 
lower than the increase in the previous two years, which was an on average +14.00% 
growth. The 2024/25 increase was not expected to cover anticipated inflation and 
growth in demand and would place pressure on the budget 
  
The Early Years funding had increased by £18.115m and was made up of new free 
entitlements offer for 9 months olds to two-year-olds and working parents of two-
year-olds (£11.888m) and an increase in the hourly rates for existing early year 
entitlements (£6.227m)   
  
The funding shortfall for pupils with high needs and central services block within the 
DSG remained a significant risk for the council.  It must be addressed as the statutory 
override preventing the council from including the accumulated deficit in its general 
fund balances was set to end on 31 March 2026. 
  
It was noted that the report had also been considered at a recent meeting of the 
Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee and the committee had endorsed 
the proposals in the report (Minute CYPSC/23/11). 
  
Decision 
  
The Executive approves the proposed Schools Budget and in doing so notes 
specifically the following:- 
  
• All Manchester primary and secondary schools should receive a per pupil 

increase of 0.5% minimum. The local funding formula’s average per pupil 
increase is 1.88%  

• Manchester does not intend to propose a 0.5% transfer from the school block to 
high needs 2024/25, given the anticipated impact of the High Needs recovery 
plan. 

• Explicit growth fund to include budget for setting up SEN and Inclusion Units in 
mainstream schools. 

• The 4.10% in the High Needs Block part of the grant is not expected to cover 
anticipated inflation and growth in demand.  

• The full increase in the early years funding rates to be passed onto providers, 
across all entitlements. 

• Central services school block (CSSB) funding on a per pupil basis has 
remained the same as 2023/24. This block will continue to be under pressure to 

Page 50

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

stay within budget, given the additional burden due to the new admission code, 
with no reduction in other functions councils are required to provide. 

 
Exe/24/25 Capital Strategy and Budget 2024/25 to 2026/27  
 
The Executive considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer, 
which presented the capital budget proposals before their submission to the Council. 
  
The Capital Strategy had been developed to ensure that the Council could take 
capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with Council priorities and 
properly take account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, risk, sustainability 
and affordability.  
  
The capital programme 2024/25 to 2026/27 comprised the continuation of the 
existing programme. For continuing schemes, the position was based on that set out 
in the report on Capital Programme Monitoring 2023/24, also being considered at this 
meeting (Minute Exe/24/15 above). 
  
Details on the projects within the programme were set out in the report and the full list 
of the proposed projects was appended to the report. 
  
If agreed, then the proposals contained in the report would create a capital 
programme of £408.2m in 2023/24, £463.7m in 2024/25, £173.8m in 2025/26 and 
£62.9m in 2026/27, summarised as follows:- 
  
  
Forecast 
Budgets 
  

2023/24  2024/2
5  

2025/2
6  

2026/2
7  

Futur
e 

Years 
Total 

Total 
24/25

-
28/29 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
Manchester City Council Programme 
Highways 40.8 45.0 20.5 18.9   125.1 84.4 
Neighbourhood
s 42.4 17.5 5.3     65.2 22.8 

The Factory and 
St John’s Public 
Realm 

54.4         54.4 0.0 

Growth 96.7 125.1 31.5 18.9 1.8 274.0 177.3 
Town Hall 
Refurbishment 63.8 84.5 22.5     170.8 107.0 

Housing – 
General Fund 28.9 52.0 15.2     96.2 67.2 

Housing – HRA 43.9 66.8 45.9 25.1 11.6 193.3 149.4 
Children’s 
Services 
(Schools) 

29.6 36.2 1.4     67.2 37.6 

ICT 2.7 2.9       5.6 2.9 
Corporate 
Services 4.3 9.1 0.5     13.9 9.6 

Total (exc. 407.6 439.1 142.8 62.9 13.4 1,065. 658.1 

Page 51

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

Contingent 
budgets) 

6 

              
Contingent 
Budgets 0.6 24.6 31.0     56.3 55.6 

Total 
Programme 408.2 463.7 173.8 62.9 13.4 1,121.

9 713.7 

  
The proposed funding for the programme across the forecast period was as follows:- 
  

  2023/24 
forecast 

2024/25 
forecast 

2025/26 
forecast 

2026/27 
forecast 

Future 
Years Total 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m 
Grant 119.7 87.0 37.5   244.2 
External 
Contribution 20.9 29.5 2.6 3.9  56.9 

Capital Receipts 42.8 116.7 54.5 33.0  247.0 
Revenue 
Contribution to 
Capital Outlay 

28.9 41.4 40.2 26.0 13.4 149.9 

Borrowing 195.9 189.1 39.0     424.0 
Total 408.2 463.7 173.8 62.9 13.4 1,121.9 
  
The proposed capital programme described within the report was affordable within 
the existing revenue budget based on the estimated capital financing costs 
associated with delivering the programme. 
  
There were risks associated with the delivery of the capital strategy, specifically 
regarding delays to the programme or treasury management risks.  Measures were in 
place to mitigate these risks through both the Strategic Capital Board and the 
treasury management strategy. Reports would be provided throughout the year to 
Council, Executive and other relevant committees providing updates on the progress 
of the capital programme and the risks associated with its delivery and funding. 
  
Decisions 
  
The Executive:- 
  
(1)      Approve and recommend the report to Council, including the projects for Council 

approval in section 7, and note that the overall budget figures may change 
subject to decisions made on other agenda items. 

  
(2)      Note the capital strategy. 
  
(3)      Note that the profile of spend is provisional, and a further update will be provided 

in the outturn report for 2023/24. 
  
(4)      Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer in 

consultation with the Executive Member for Finance and Human Resources to 

Page 52

Item 4b



Manchester City Council  Minutes 
Executive  14 February 2024 

make alterations to the schedules for the capital programme 2023/43 to 
2026/27 prior to their submission to Council for approval, subject to no changes 
being made to the overall estimated total cost of each individual project. 

 
Exe/24/26 Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2024/25, including 

Borrowing Limits and Annual Investment Strategy  
 
The Executive considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer, 
which set out the proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
Borrowing Limits for 2024/25 and Prudential Indicators for 2024/25 to 2026/27. 
  
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement set out the risk framework under 
which the Council’s treasury management function would operate by detailing the 
investment and debt instruments to be used during the year the Strategy detailed the 
risk appetite of the Authority and how those risks would be managed. 
  
The suggested strategy for 2024/25 was based upon the treasury officers’ views on 
interest rates, supplemented with the forecasts provided by the Council’s treasury 
advisor, Link Asset Services. The strategy covered:- 
  
•                Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2024/25 to 2026/27; 
•                Impact of 2012 HRA reform; 
•                Current Portfolio Position; 
•                Prospects for Interest Rates; 
•                Borrowing Requirement; 
•                Borrowing Strategy; 
•                Annual Investment Strategy; and 
•                Non-Treasury Investments and Liabilities 
  
The Executive noted the proposed Annual Investment and Borrowing Strategies set 
out in the report and agreed to commend them to the Council. 
  
The Executive:- 
  
(1)       Recommends the report to Council. 
  
(2)       Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer, in 

consultation with the Executive Member for Finance and Human Resources, to 
approve changes to the borrowing figures as a result of changes to the 
Council’s Capital or Revenue budget and submit these changes to Council. 

 
 
 

Page 53

Item 4b



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Meeting of the Council – Friday, 1st March, 2024

	3 Minutes
	4a Proceedings of the Art Galleries Committee
	4b Part of Proceeding of the Executive - 14 February 2024 relating to the budget for 2024/25

